
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

December 6, 2023 
2:00 p.m.       Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

AGENDA 
 
 

I. Call to Order Barbara Sowada 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Mission and Vision Marty Kelsey 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Action)  Barbara Sowada 

III. Minutes (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

IV. Community Communication  Barbara Sowada 

V. Old Business Barbara Sowada 

A. Employee Policy–Non-Discrimination & Anti-Harassment (Remains under review/development, no request for action) 

B. Board Policy – Approval Process for Expansion of or Addition Barbara Sowada 

To Hospital Services (Withdraw) 

C. Residents In Training Policy (For Action) Kerry Downs, Medical Staff Services Director 

VI. New Business (Review and Questions/Comments) Barbara Sowada 

A. TJC Requirements Regarding the Board’s Role in Quality (For Information) Barbara Sowada 

B. Board Self-Assessment Survey (For Information) Barbara Sowada 

C. Board Committee Assignment Revision (For Information) Barbara Sowada 

D. FY23 Revised Audit (For Action) Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer 

E. Patient Rights & Responsibilities Standard (For Review) Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer 

F. Employee Policy – Weapons Policy (For Review) Suzan Campbell, In House Counsel 

G. Credentials Committee  Kerry Downs, Medical Staff Services Director 

1. Orthopedic Privileges (For Action)    

VII. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

VIII.  Committee Reports 

A. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey 

B. Compliance Committee Kandi Pendleton 

C. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

D. Quality Committee Kandi Pendleton 

E. Human Resources Committee  Kandi Pendleton 

F. Finance & Audit Committee         Marty Kelsey 

1. Capital Expenditure Request (For Action) 

2. I.S. Report 

3. Bad Debt (For Action) 

4. Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information 

G. Foundation Board Craig Rood 

1/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

December 6, 2023 
2:00 p.m.       Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 

 
    

AGENDA 
 
 

H. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee  Barbara Sowada 

I. Joint Conference Committee                                        Barbara Sowada 

IX. Contract Review                          Suzan Campbell 

A. Consent Agenda (For Action) 

1. U of U Telemedicine Contract 

X. Medical Staff Report Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff Services President 

XI. Good of the Order                   Barbara Sowada 

XII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix))       Barbara Sowada 

XIII. Action Following Executive Session Barbara Sowada 

A. Request for Privileges (For Action) 

XIV. Adjourn Barbara Sowada 

2/193



OUR MISSIONOUR MISSION  

Compassionate care for 

every life we touch. 

OUR VISIONOUR VISION  

To be our community’s trusted 

healthcare leader. 

OUR VALUESOUR VALUES  

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 

 

OUR STRATEGIESOUR STRATEGIES  

Patient Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Workplace Experience 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

3/193



Separator Page

Minutes for October 4 2023 Draft

4/193



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

October 4, 2023 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session on 

October 4, 2023, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order. 

 

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Mr. Marty Kelsey, Mr. Craig Rood, and Dr. Barbara Sowada.  

Excused: Ms. Kandi Pendleton. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Taylor 

Jones, County Commissioner Liaison; Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff Services President, and 

Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel. 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Mr. Rood read aloud the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson shared a message from former Trustee, Mr. Ed Tardoni, and his wife, Mrs. Joanna 

Tardoni, and a beautiful photography print of the blue moon on a metal plate for hanging. Mr. 

Tardoni’s note states a blue moon is a rare event that occurs only at the closest approach to earth. 

Mr. Tardoni said the print is reflective and the viewer can see their face in the photo. The lower 

left corner of this spectacular photo contains the words, "In this life we only meet people like you 

once in a blue moon.” The note states the gift is given with the wish it will provide support and 

aid when the infusion nurses in the Cancer Center face a tough day. Ms. Richardson thanked the 

Tardonis and said she will forward the print to the Cancer Center to display where visitors and 

patients may see it.  

 

AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the agenda as amended to table the Employee Policy under Old Business 

and affirm Mr. Rood as Vice President under New Business was made by Mr. Rood; second by 

Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

5/193



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the September 6, 2023, regular meeting as presented was 

made by Mr. Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

Commissioner Jones said he needed to leave the meeting early due to another meeting. Dr. 

Sowada thanked him for attending. Dr. Sowada announced the Trustees would break at 4:00 p.m. 

to participate in an event in The Healing Garden in support of the Hospital and Oncology 

Department cancer awareness event.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

2023-24 Memorandum Of Understanding Between The Sweetwater County Board Of 

Sweetwater County Commissioners And The Memorial Hospital Of Sweetwater County 

 

Dr. Sowada reviewed the process to-date regarding the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). 

She said the Trustees approved an earlier version in August. Changes were made so approval of 

the final version is needed. Mr. Phillips provided an overview and said it is in effect for one year. 

He said it separates completely the Title 25 funds from what is budgeted for maintenance. Mr. 

Phillips expressed appreciation to the County Commissioners for their work through this process. 

The motion to approve the MOU as presented was made by Mr. Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. 

Motion carried. Dr. Sowada thanked Ms. Richardson, Mr. Phillips, Commissioner Jones and 

everyone involved in the process. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

FY23 Audit Report 

 

Ms. Richardson introduced Mr. Darryn McGarvey from Clifton Larsen Allen (CLA) and thanked 

him for a great audit. She said CLA is very thorough and does an excellent job. Ms. Richardson 

said we learn from them every year. She said CLA has a great team. Ms. Richardson thanked the 

MHSC team and stressed this is a great team effort. Mr. McGarvey thanked the Hospital team and 

the Board of Trustees. He reviewed the audit report. Mr. McGarvey said the CLA staff that work 

on the Hospital audit primarily work on hospital audits only. The CLA team was onsite the first 

week in August and prepared the audit and financial statements with the assistance of MHSC staff. 

He said the Cerner EHR was the most significant item in the new accounting standard GASB96. 

Mr. McGarvey said material weaknesses are a major part of the process and there were none 

identified. He said CLA tries to bring things to the table every year to help the organization 

improve. He noted some of the impacts from COVID reflected in the presentation data. He said 

we have seen improvements in the operating loss per provider data over the past few years. Visits 

per FTE have increased. Days of cash on hand were at 100 days and we had a massive EHR 

conversion in the middle of all of this. Mr. McGarvey said all organizations increase days in A/R 

related to an EHR conversion. He said the key is how quickly we bring that back down and charity 

care has trended downward. Mr. McGarvey said there is information included in the audit report  

for board education. Dr. Sowada thanked Mr. McGarvey for his presentation. Mr. Kelsey thanked 

6/193



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

Mr. McGarvey for his work and said they always do a great job. The motion to approve the FY23 

Audit Report as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.   

 

Human Resources Charter 

 

Dr. Sowada said the HR Charter has been slightly amended and will be returned next month for 

approval. 

 

Compliance Committee Charter 

 

Dr. Sowada said this is the first read and we will bring the charter back next month for approval. 

 

Governance Committee Charter 

 

Dr. Sowada said the recommended changes are in the packet and asked Mr. Kelsey to review. She 

said this is the first read and we will bring it back next month for approval. 

 

Finance & Audit Committee Charter 

 

Mr. Kelsey reviewed the recommended changes and said we will bring the charter back next month 

for approval. Mr. Kelsey expressed appreciation to everyone working on the committee charters.  

 

Vice President 

 

Dr. Sowada said Mr. Rood accepted stepping into the Vice President position. The motion to 

appoint Mr. Rood as Vice President for the 23/24 year as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; 

second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried. 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson reviewed person-centered care initiatives and highlighted the Patient & Family 

Advisory Council. She thanked the Medical Staff for working with us on the efforts to improve 

patient experience. Ms. Richardson provided a Critical Access Hospital status update. She gave a 

huge thank you to CLA and the MHSC audit team. The Board and Senior Leaders will meet 

November 13 and 14 for a Strategic Plan Retreat. Ms. Richardson said we continue to prepare for 

a visit from The Joint Commission for our survey. She thanked all staff for their work preparing. 

Quarterly Town Hall meetings are scheduled the week of October 16. Ms. Richardson said she 

attended the American Hospital Association Regional Policy Board meeting in Washington D.C. 

She met with many legislators and said we have to set the narrative for ourselves. She said she 

appreciates having the opportunity to attend. Ms. Richardson said we must keep the Hospital here 

for our community as a full-service hospital. She announced upcoming events and invited 

everyone to participate. She thanked staff, the Commissioners, physicians, the Board, and our 

community for supporting us to be here to take care of our community. 

 

  

7/193



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Quality Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said at last month’s meeting, the Board’s education was Veralon videos on quality. 

She said the videos asked what are the top 5 quality issues at your hospital? Dr. Sowada invited 

Dr. Kari Quickenden, Chief Clinical Officer, and Ms. Kara Jackson, Director of Quality          

Accreditation, Patient Safety, and Risk, to review highlights from the most recent Quality 

Committee meeting. They said their top 5 areas of focus are: 1) Medication Safety, 2) Sepsis, 3) 

Falls, 4) Patient Safety Processes & Principles in General, 5) Patient Experience. They said they 

all tie together and align with our Process Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) priorities. Ms. 

Jackson said over the last couple of years the entire organization has worked on quality and safety 

indicators. She said we have seen a lot of improvement. Collaboration through providers, staff, 

and various departments has made the difference. Ms. Richardson gave kudos to leaders making 

meetings happen to look at opportunities for improvement. Dr. Sowada thanked them for sharing 

the information and thanked everyone for all the work being done.  

 

Human Resources Committee 

 

Mr. Rood said the Committee focused discussions on updates to a policy on anti-harassment and 

non-discrimination.   

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Capital Expenditure Requests - Mr. Kelsey said the Committee approved one capital expenditure 

request from staff. The motion to approve FY 24-15 for $316,565 as presented for a budgeted sole 

source item from Siemens for replacement x-ray equipment was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by 

Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

Information Technology Report – Mr. Kelsey noted the large number of systems the IT 

Department keeps running. He said it is a good department doing a lot of good things. Ms. 

Richardson said cybersecurity is a huge threat and thanked Mr. Terry Thompson, Director, and the 

staff for keeping us as safe as we can be. Mr. Thompson thanked Ms. Richardson and the Board 

for their support.  

 

Bad Debt – The motion to approve the potential bad debt of $1,519,194.77 as presented was made 

by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried.  

 

Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information – Mr. Kelsey said the report is in the meeting 

packet along with the financial data. He said it is a great report. 

 

Building and Grounds 

 

Mr. Kelsey said there is a lot going on and said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

  

8/193



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

Foundation 

 

Dr. Sowada noted the report is in the meeting packet. Mr. Rood said the Foundation is working on 

replacing his position on the Board of Directors. He also asked everyone to save the date of 

February 3, 2024, for the next Red Tie Gala. 

 

Compliance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Governance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee did not meet. 

 

Joint Conference Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee has not met.  

 

BOARD EDUCATION 

 

Dr. Sowada said several people had difficulty accessing the webinar on The Governance Institute 

site. Mr. Kelsey said he was able to review the webinar and said it was very good and the topic of 

mental health is very serious. Dr. Sowada suggested revisiting discussion of the webinar at a later 

date. 

 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Dr. Crofts said she completed her proctoring of the DaVinci and will work with Urology and OB 

to help them move forward. She said we are very grateful Dr. Hoffman joined us as well as Dr. 

Poundstone. Dr. Crofts said the Medical Staff are working on bylaws updates and in the process 

of selecting Department Chairs.  

 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 

Mr. Kelsey suggested adding “personal vision for the Hospital” when the Trustees rotate through 

on sharing the mission and vision for the Hospital each month. Dr. Sowada said different lenses 

are like a kaleidoscope and suggested we may ask some of the staff to share their personal visions 

for the Hospital, as well.  

 

Dr. Sowada thanked everyone in attendance and reminded everyone about the Cancer Center 

special ceremony in The Healing Garden at 4:00 p.m. 

  

9/193



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 3:26 p.m. was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. 

Rood. Motion carried. Dr. Sowada said there would be a 10-minute break. 

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

The motion to leave executive session and return to regular session at 4:55 p.m. was made by Mr. 

Rood; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Approval of Privileges 
 

The motion to approve the list of clinical privileges and granting appointments to the Medical Staff 

as discussed in executive session was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Mr. Rood. Motion carried. 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from September 12, 2023 

1. Initial Appointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Brian Opferman, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Arion Lochner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

2. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Daniel Kogan, Neurology 

 Dr. George Kingsley, OB/GYN 

 Dr. Mitchel Faulkner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Benjamin Verseman, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Hannah Loewenberg, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Rowan Kelner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

3. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (1 years) 

 Dr. Holly Huang, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Veronica Moreno-Gomez, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Judea Wiggins, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Aaron Shoskes, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

4. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. William Brann, Cardiovascular Disease 

 Dr. Gregory Kenyherz, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Michael Rethy, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

5. Reappointment to Non-Physician Staff (2 years) 

 Alisha Mackie, RN First Assist  

6. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Alan Pratt, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

 

 

  

10/193



 

 

Minutes of the October 4, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 7 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 4:56 p.m.   

      

    

  ______________________________________  

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

Attest: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

11/193



Separator Page

Minutes for November 1 2023 Draft

12/193



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

November 1, 2023 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session on 

November 1, 2023, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order. 

 

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, and Dr. Barbara Sowada.  

Excused: Mr. Craig Rood. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Taylor 

Jones, County Commissioner Liaison; and Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff Services President. 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Dr. Sowada read aloud the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Dr. Sowada recognized and honored Commissioner Jones for his many years of service on the 

Board of Trustees. She said he served as President and is now our Liaison. Dr. Sowada said we 

are grateful we can call on his knowledge and expertise at any time. She presented an engraved 

brick to be placed in the Healing Garden in his honor. Dr. Sowada thanked Commissioner Jones 

for all he has done and all he will continue to do. Commissioner Jones said the gift means more to 

him than words can say. He said it has been quite a road and one he is grateful to have been on. 

He said everything good that has gone on has been due to the people who work at the Hospital and 

he thanked everyone. Ms. Richardson said Commissioner Jones’ wisdom, guidance, and direction 

have been wonderful. She said it has been great working with him for seven years. Ms. Richardson 

said he has always been available and made our jobs easier due to his support and assistance. Mr. 

Kelsey and Ms. Pendleton thanked Commissioner Jones for his service and good work. 

 

AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the agenda as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Ms. Pendleton. 

Motion carried.   

 

13/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 1, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the October 4, 2023, meeting was made by Mr. Kelsey; 

second by Dr. Sowada. Ms. Pendleton said she did not participate in the October meeting so she 

abstained from voting. Due to the lack of a quorum of voting members, approval of the minutes 

was tabled until the December meeting. The motion and second were withdrawn.  

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

There were no comments. 

 

EDUCATION 

 

Planetree International Conference Highlights 

 

Ms. Karali Plonski, Quality Analyst, and Ms. Cindy Nelson, Person-Centered Care Coordinator 

and Executive Assistant, presented highlights from the Planetree International Conference on 

Person-Centered Care they attended. Ms. Nelson reported there were 370 attendees from 20 

different countries. She said her main takeaway was the importance of knowing what matters to 

people. Ms. Nelson said compassion is not a luxury, it is a necessity for our wellbeing, resilience, 

and survival. Ms. Plonski said her main takeaway was treating people the way we all want to be 

treated. She said the saying, “nothing to me, or about me, without me” is impactful. Ms. Plonski 

shared a story about “mango moments” and shared the successful ingredients of co-design. The 

presenters said we need to get back to the basics of how we provide care and connect to why we 

provide care. Ms. Nelson provided an update on the progress of the Person-Centered Care 

Committee in completing the Excellence in Person-Centered Care Certification Application and 

said the goal is to submit it by December 31, 2023.   

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

Human Resources Committee Charter 

 

The motion to approve the Human Resources Committee Charter as presented was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. 

 

Compliance Committee Charter 

 

The motion to approve the Compliance Committee Charter as presented was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. 

 

Governance Committee Charter 

 

The motion to approve the Governance Committee Charter as presented was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. 

 

  

14/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 1, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

Finance & Audit Committee Charter 

 

The motion to approve the Finance & Audit Committee Charter as presented was made by Mr. 

Kelsey; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Board Policy – Approval Process for Expansion of or Addition to Hospital Services 

 

Mr. Kelsey said the Governance Committee has been developing the policy and wanted something 

very simple. He reviewed highlights. Ms. Richardson said she liked the final product and feels it 

is a good policy for Senior Leadership and the Board. Ms. Pendleton asked some questions and 

shared some concerns. Dr. Sowada thanked everyone for the discussion and said we will bring the 

policy back in December.  

 

Residents in Training Policy 

 

Ms. Kerry Downs, Medical Staff Services Director, reviewed the policy change of one sentence. 

She said the policy was drafted years ago when the University of Utah was considering sending 

emergency residents and that didn’t come to fruition but we felt we should still keep the policy in 

place. The policy will come before the Board for approval in December. 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson provided a person-centered care initiatives update. She said we are moving 

forward with critical access licensing. Ms. Richardson thanked the Medical Executive Committee 

and Leadership Team for their assistance in completing a SWOT analysis in preparation for the 

upcoming strategic plan discussions. Ms. Richardson said we are still in the window for The Joint 

Commission survey. She thanked everyone for their diligence and work to always be prepared. 

Town Halls were presented the week of October 16. Ms. Richardson thanked Ms. Plonski for her 

help with providing patient satisfaction data and said it is encouraging to see continuous 

improvement. Ms. Richardson thanked everyone for their help in providing a wonderful 

community Halloween event. She thanked the Human Resources Department for providing a fun 

Fall Festival event. The Hospital and the Foundation have both been nominated for Rock Star 

Awards at the upcoming Rock Springs Chamber of Commerce event November 3. We will serve 

meals to Veterans and their guests for Veteran’s Day on November 10. Ms. Richardson has been 

asked to serve as the Grand Marshall of the Rock Springs Holiday Lighted Parade December 2. 

The Hospital is celebrating 130 years at our community holiday event on December 15. Ms. 

Richardson sent a huge shout out to the staff and physicians for taking care of our patients and our 

community. She said it is truly all about taking care of each other. Ms. Richardson thanked 

Commissioner Jones again for his service and said we are so lucky to have him on our team to 

help continue to make our hospital great.   

 

  

15/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 1, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Compliance Committee 

 

 Ms. Pendleton said the Committee did not meet.  

 

Governance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.   

 

Quality Committee 

 

Ms. Pendleton said her report is in the packet. She said there is interesting information on 

reimbursements and how that works in the committee packet in the portal. She said the Committee 

packet has some great information. She said the report from Dr. Melinda Poyer, Chief Medical 

Officer, is always interesting.  

 

Human Resources Committee 

 

Ms. Pendleton said the Committee did not meet. 

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Information Technology Report – Mr. Kelsey said the report is in the packet. 

 

Bad Debt – The motion to approve the potential bad debt of $1,462,752.30 as presented was made 

by Mr. Kelsey; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. Dr. Sowada said the Patient Financial 

Navigators reported at the Pulse of Southwest Wyoming meeting. She said the information they 

provide is so important and she appreciates the big difference they have made in the community.  

 

Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information – Mr. Kelsey said the Committee had a nice 

presentation by our auditor, Clifton Larsen Allen (CLA), on the revenue cycle regarding longer 

processing times and high denial rates. Mr. Kelsey said some action plans were discussed. Ms. 

Love reviewed financial highlights. She said we have seen some progress in our reductions in 

revenue and we are excited to work with CLA. Ms. Love said the outlook for October shows we 

are coming in at budget. She said collections are better than what was reported at the Committee 

meeting. She said our inpatient admissions are still down but outpatient visits and ER visits have 

increased. Ms. Love said we are conservative with our budget. She said contract labor has 

decreased faster than anticipated. She said these are historically our busier months in the winter. 

Ms. Love said we received a letter from Medicaid for our QRA and it will result in an audit 

adjustment.  

 

Building and Grounds 

 

Construction Manager At Risk (CMAR) Selection: Mr. Kelsey said his report and the minutes 

are in the packet. He said a lot of things are happening in Building & Grounds. He said we keep 

talking about a master plan. Mr. Kelsey said we need to approve a Construction Manager At Risk 

(CMAR) for the lab project. The recommendation is to select Groathouse. Ms. Pendleton noted it 

16/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 1, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

was nice to see both bids were from Wyoming companies and were competitive. The motion to 

select Groathouse as presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

Ms. Richardson said it was a great process and she looks forward to moving forward. She said the 

project must be completed by December 2026. Ms. Love said we hope to break ground in March 

2024. Mr. Kelsey said one of the statute requirements of a CMAR is a GMP. Ms. Love said we 

hope to have that by the end of December 2023. Mr. Kelsey said we have inflation concerns but 

also supply chain issues. Ms. Richardson reminded everyone of the funding proportions. She said 

this was made possible by the grant application Ms. Tiffany Marshall, Executive Director of the 

Foundation, submitted and the funding is provided by the State, County, Foundation, and Hospital. 

 

Foundation Board 

 

Ms. Marshall said her report is in the packet. She distributed copies of the redesigned Guardian 

Angel Program materials. Ms. Marshall said she is monitoring any additional SLIB funding 

opportunities.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee did not meet. 

 

Joint Conference Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the Committee has not met.  

 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

 

Consent Agenda 

 

Clifton Larsen Allen Statement of Work: The motion to approve the CLA Statement of Work as 

presented was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

 

Stryker MAKO: Mr. Kelsey said he had some concerns with some of the language and thinks 

Board Counsel should review. He said he would still approve the agreement with that step added. 

Ms. Richardson said we would ensure Mr. Phillips reviews. The motion to approve the Stryker 

MAKO agreement as presented was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion 

carried.  

 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Dr. Crofts said the Surgery Department met and elected officers. Dr. Pedri is the Chair, Dr. Jamias 

is the Vice Chair. The Medical Executive Committee met with Mr. Nick Healey regarding bylaws. 

They are working on rewriting their rules and regulations. The General Medical Staff will meet 

and elect new officers. Dr. Crofts shared a story about the Same Day Surgery staff making treats 

for the Med/Surg staff because there had been many cases moving to their unit. She said the 

message was well-received, heart-felt, and elicits teamwork.  

 

  

17/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 1, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 

Dr. Sowada reminded the Board and Senior Leadership of the strategic planning meetings 

November 13 and 14.  

Commissioner Jones said the brick he received really means a lot because of what we have all been 

through together. He shared how difficult it was for him to make the decision to apply for the 

vacant commissioner position because if he was appointed, it would mean leaving the Board. He 

said he loves this Hospital and loves the people in it. He said the Hospital is in good shape and the 

changes have been incredible. He said it takes the right people to do that.  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 3:53 p.m. was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. 

Kelsey. Motion carried. Dr. Sowada said there would be a 10-minute break. 

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

The motion to leave executive session and return to regular session at 4:50 p.m. was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Approval of Privileges 
 

The motion to grant clinical privileges and appointments to the Medical Staff as discussed in 

executive session was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. 

Credentials Committee Recommendations to the Board of Trustees for Granting Clinical 

Privileges and Granting Appointment to the Medical Staff from October 18, 2023 

1. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Beth Martin, Pediatrics 

2. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff  

 Dr. Aisha Ahmed, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Stephen Hurwitz, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Nitin Kamble, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. James Lamousin, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Thomas Lavie, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Jeffrey Liubicich, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Dwayne Narayan, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Dustin Plowman, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Taniya Pradhan, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Brian Quigley, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Sabreen Rahman, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Gregory Renck, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Jeramie Rosales-Rodriguez, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Michelle Schofield, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Andrew Smith, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

18/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 1, 2023, Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 7 

 Dr. Ernest Spiotto, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

 Dr. Susan Waterman, Tele Psychiatry (QLER) 

3. Reappointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. John Iliya, Hospice 

 Dr. Mansour Khaddr, Cardiovascular Disease (Casper Cardiology) 

4. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Barbara McCorvey, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Keiron Kennedy, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

5. New Business 

 Dr. Brianne Crofts, Robotic Surgery Privileges 

 Emergency Medicine Privileges 

o Dr. Holden Wagstaff 

o Dr. Nicholas Kanaan 

o Dr. Wesley Williams 

o Dr. Christopher Ryba 

o Dr. James Fierbaugh 

o Dr. Jonathan Roddy  

o Dr. Christine Raps 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 4:51 p.m.   

      

    

  ______________________________________  

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

Attest: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

19/193



Separator Page

Minutes for November 10 2023 Special Meeting

20/193



 

MINUTES FROM THE SPECIAL MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

November 10, 2023 
 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in a special meeting via 

Zoom on November 10, 2023, at 8:00 a.m. with Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada called the meeting to order and welcomed everyone. The following Trustees were 

present at the call to order: Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Mr. Craig Rood, and Dr. 

Barbara Sowada. Judge Nena James was in attendance as the new Trustee. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Taylor 

Jones, County Commissioner Liaison; and Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel. 

 

OATH OF OFFICE 

 

Mr. Phillips administered the Oath of Office to Judge Nena James. Dr. Sowada welcomed Judge 

James to the Board of Trustees. Judge James said she is delighted to be appointed and is looking 

forward to working together with the other Board members. She said she is looking forward to 

learning more about becoming an effective Board member. Judge James said she is excited to do 

something she considers meaningful. She said she is a big fan of the Hospital and said it is a 

mainstay of the community. Mr. Phillips said we are very fortunate to have Judge James serving 

as a member of this Board. He said she is smart, good with people, was an excellent judge, and 

has great knowledge of our community. He said she is coming on to a Board that has very talented, 

experienced people doing good things for the Hospital and the community. Commissioner Jones 

thanked the Board for their patience as the Commissioners went through the selection process. He 

said they wanted to take their time to find a good replacement for this important Board. He said he 

is looking forward to great things from this Board. Ms. Pendleton, Mr. Kelsey, and Mr. Rood 

welcomed Judge James. Ms. Richardson welcomed Judge James and said she will be a great 

addition to a wonderful Board. She said she hopes Judge James has a wonderful experience 

serving. Ms. Richardson said the Hospital staff is amazing. She said our mission is to provide 

compassionate care for every life we touch. We have mission moments at the beginning of our 

regular meetings and it is so nice to hear stories where people see and feel we genuinely care.  

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session at 8:22 a.m. was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. 

Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

The motion to leave executive session and return to regular session at 8:45 a.m. was made by Ms. 

Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

21/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 10, 2023 Board of Trustees Special Meeting 

Page 2 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 8:45 a.m.  

 

 

         ____________________________________ 
 

        Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

Attest: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

 

 

22/193



Separator Page

Minutes for November 13 2023 Special Workshop

23/193



 

MINUTES FROM THE SPECIAL WORKSHOP MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

November 13, 2023 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in a special workshop 

meeting at The Holiday Inn in Rock Springs, Wyoming, on November 13, 2023, at 1:00 p.m. with 

Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada called the meeting to order. The following Trustees were present: Judge Nena James,  

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, and Dr. Barbara Sowada.  

Excused: Mr. Marty Kelsey and Mr. Craig Rood. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer.  

 

Guests: Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer; Dr. Kari Quickenden, Chief Clinical Officer; Dr. 

Melinda Poyer, Chief Medical Officer.  

 

BOARD EDUCATION 

 

Ms. Laura Lehan of PEAK Consulting led an education session around the strategic planning 

process.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 4:00 p.m.  

 

 

         ____________________________________ 
 

        Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

 

 

24/193



Separator Page

Minutes for November 14 2023 Special Workshop

25/193



 

MINUTES FROM THE SPECIAL WORKSHOP MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

November 14, 2023 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in a special workshop 

meeting at The Holiday Inn in Rock Springs, Wyoming, on November 14, 2023, at 8:30 a.m. with 

Dr. Barbara Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada called the meeting to order. The following Trustees were present: Judge Nena James, 

Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, and Dr. Barbara Sowada.  

Excused: Mr. Craig Rood. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer.  

 

Guests: Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer; Dr. Kari Quickenden, Chief Clinical Officer; Dr. 

Melinda Poyer, Chief Medical Officer.  

 

BOARD EDUCATION 

 

Ms. Laura Lehan of PEAK Consulting led an education session around the strategic planning 

process.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 12:05 p.m.  

 

 

         ____________________________________ 
 

        Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

 

 

26/193



 

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
Board Meeting Date: December 6, 2023 
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: Residents in Training Policy 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 __X____ Revision 
 ______ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: This policy was up for review, but after 
discussion, MEC asked that one line be removed from the section – Supervision of 
Residents/Resident’s Role:  “#3.  Any orders written must be countersigned by the 
attending physician within 24 hours.”   
 
Dr. Crofts said that it’s really hard to co-sign orders, unless you’re a nurse.  An 
admission order has to be co-signed, because a resident physician doesn’t have 
authority. But, she said that she’s not sure if every order has to be co-signed in a 
true residency program. After discussion, it was decided that #3 under supervision 
of residents should be removed. 
 
Note: At the Board meeting of November 1, 2023, Barbara Sowada suggested that 
will should be changed to shall, throughout.     
 
Board Committee Action: 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     _______ For Review Only 
 ____X___ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 _______ In House Comments: 
 _______ Board  Comments: 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: Recommend approval  

27/193



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 14800093 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Medical Staff 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC 
MS.04.01.01 

Residents in Training Policy 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: 

To outline the process for credentialing and supervision of residents, sponsored by a member of the 
Medical Staff, who provide services to patients of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC). 
This policy defines the mechanism of how the residents are credentialed and the scope of practice or 
privileges that defines their role at MHSC. 

TEXT: 

Graduate Medical Education (GME) is the second phase of the formal education process that prepares 
doctors for medical practice. This phase of medical education is conducted primarily in clinical settings 
and requires direct participation by residents in the delivery of patient care services. MHSC wishes to 
support residents for short-term clinical rotations to enhance a resident's experience in practicing in a 
rural healthcare facility. 

A physician must always supervise residents performing patient care activities. All clinical services 
provided by resident physicians must be supervised appropriately to maintain high standards of care, 
safeguard patient safety, and ensure high quality education. Individual resident programs willshall 
provide written guidelines governing supervision of residents. 

PROCEDURE: 

1. MHSC and the sponsoring educational institution shall enter into a cooperative education 
agreement. The educational institution must be accredited by the ACGME or AOA. 

2. The residency program willshall provide a letter stating the following: 

• That the resident physician is enrolled and in good standing in their program. 

• That the resident is covered by the program's liability insurance while he or she is performing 
as a resident. 

• The resident willshall be functioning under the supervision of an attending physician with 
appropriate clinical privileges at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County.All residents 

Residents in Training Policy. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14800093/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 3

28/193



DRAFT

willshall be required to follow the MHSC credentialing process, and must submit a complete 
application to the Medical Staff Office. 

1. Credentials Committee, MEC, and the hospital Board of Trustees willshall review the resident's 
application. If approved, the residents willshall be allowed to complete a rotation in a specific 
specialty for a certain time period. 

2. The resident willshall wear a name badge for identification. 

3. The resident willshall be provided with an orientation and tour of the facility before beginning 
their rotation. 

4. No health care benefits, workers' compensation, or other benefits are provided by MHSC in the 
event of illness or injury. 

Supervision of Residents/Resident's Role 

1. A resident may write orders for the care of patients under the supervision of the attending 
physician. All records of resident cases must document the attending physician's involvement 
in the supervision of the patient's care, including co-signature of the history and physical, 
operative report, and discharge summary. All admissions willshall be designated in name and 
responsibility to include an attending physician. 

2. The attending/supervising physician is ultimately responsible for patient care although he or 
she may delegate responsibilities for care to the resident consistent with the resident's level of 
training and ability. 

3. The hospital staff may contact the attending physician regarding any orders that are 
questionable or need clarification prior to their being executed. 

4. Discharge summaries, histories and physicals, operative reports, etc., must be cosigned by the 
attending physician. 

5. The hospital attending physician is responsible for the quality of all the clinical care services 
provided to his/her patients. 

6. Residents may not be supervised by Advance Practice Clinicians (APC's) such as Nurse 
Practitioners or Physician Assistants. 

Supervising Physician's Responsibilities: 

1. Each residency program willshall designate a supervising physician who willshall serve as the 
contact with the residency program and who willshall oversee training of the residents. This 
supervising physician willshall act as the liaison between the graduate education committee 
and the organized medical staff and the governing body. 

2. Written descriptions of the roles, responsibilities, and patient care activities of the participants 
of graduate education programs are provided to the supervising physician. The supervising 
physician is responsible for sharing this information with the organized medical staff and 
hospital staff. The supervising physician willshall send email communication alerting the 
hospital and medical staff that a resident is rotating through their department. The email 
willshall include the resident's name, dates of rotation, roles, responsibilities, patient care 
activities, treatment, and services provided by each resident. The email willshall also include 
the supervisory needs of each resident and that they willshall be following the rules and 
policies of the hospital and the medical staff. 

Residents in Training Policy. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14800093/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 3

29/193



DRAFT
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

3. The supervising physician responsible for overseeing each resident communicates to the 
organized medical staff and its governing body about the patient care, treatment, and services 
provided by, and the related educational and supervisory needs of, each participant in the 
professional graduate education program. The supervising physician willshall send a brief 
report to the monthly General Medical Staff meeting. The Chief of Staff willshall communicate 
pertinent information from that report, to the Board of Trustees, as indicated. The supervising 
physician willshall inform the organized medical staff and its governing body about the patient 
care, treatment, and services provided by, and the related educational and supervisory needs 
of, each participant in the professional graduate education program. 

4. The supervising physician is responsible to communicate information to the GMEC of the 
residency program about the quality of care, treatment, and services and educational needs of 
the participants. The supervising physician is responsible to complete all required evaluation 
forms for each resident in each residency program. The supervising physician willshall also 
meet regularly with the GMEC and willshall submit all required documentation. 

5. The supervising physician may delegate resident training to an attending physician, when 
needed. 

6. Medical Staff Services willshall notify those areas in the hospital where a resident physician 
would be involved with patient care (for example, nursing units, lab, x-ray, etc.). 

REFERENCES: 

TJC Medical Staff Standards, MS.04.01.01 

Sponsoring Department: Medical Staff Services 

Date of Origin: September 2017 

Date of Last Review: May 2019 

Date of Last Revision: May 2019 

MEC: July 25, 2023 and November 29, 2023; Approved by MHSC Board of 
Trustees on 

Residents in Training Policy. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14800093/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 3

30/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 

31/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 4 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 13 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES 
IN NET POSITION 15 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 16 

NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 18 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 34 

 
 

32/193



CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

 

(1) 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Rock Springs, Wyoming 
 
 

Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County (the Hospital), which comprise the combined statements of net position as of June 30, 2023 and 
2022, and the related combined statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective combined financial position of the Hospital as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and 
the respective changes in its net position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Hospital and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of combined financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the combined financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Hospital’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date of the combined financial statements 
are available to be issued. 

33/193



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(2) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the combined financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the combined financial statements. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
combined financial statements. 

 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Hospital’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

34/193



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(3) 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic combined financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic combined financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic combined financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic combined financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit 
of the basic combined financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our November 7, 2023, on 
our consideration of the Hospital’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
November 7, 2023 
 
 

35/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(4) 

 
INTRODUCTION 

This is management’s discussion and analysis of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County‘s (the 
Hospital) financial performance and provides an overview of the Hospital’s financial activities for the 
years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. It should be read in conjunction with the Hospital’s combined 
financial statements, which begin on page 13. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is a Joint Commission accredited, 99-bed rural acute-care 
facility located in Southwest Wyoming, which services a region exceeding 10,000 square miles. The 
Hospital serves a population more than 45,000 in Sweetwater County as well as surrounding areas. 
The Hospital provides a vast array of inpatient and outpatient services, emergent care, dialysis, 
occupational medicine, radiation oncology, and hematology oncology services. In addition, the Hospital 
employs over forty physicians and mid-level providers; successfully building a vibrant list of family, 
internal and specialty medicine clinics. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County continues to maintain 
a strong, viable presence in the community. Recognizing the need to create a collaborative focus for 
the future and by identifying the opportunity and accountability in the delivery of healthcare for the 
communities the Hospital serves, the following goals and objectives continue to serve as our roadmap 
to guide the Hospital into the future: 
 

Growth in Services and Programs: Being responsive to the needs of the community by 
maintaining care locally whenever possible by growing service lines and offering new programs, 
which include: 
 

• Radiation and Hematology Oncology 

• Enhanced Orthopedic Surgery 

• Pulmonology 

• Occupational Medicine 

• Telemedicine 

• Neurology 

• Walk-In Clinic 

• Behavioral Health Services 

• DaVinci Robotic Surgery 
 

Medical Staff Development Plan: Work to meet the needs of the community by developing a 
medical staff that will enhance current programs and effectively deliver new services and 
programs. In recent years, we have added Neurology services, enhanced our OB/Gynecology, 
Pediatric and Internal Medicine practices, enhanced our cancer center with a full-time Radiation 
Oncologist and opened a Walk-In Clinic with two new mid-level providers. We have added several 
mid-levels in different practices to compliment the Physicians and the increasing volumes in our 
Clinics. In fiscal year 2023, we added to our Hospitalist team to eliminate high-cost locum 
coverage. Recognizing the need to balance growth with financial stability, the Hospital continues 
to streamline operations by researching new service lines. We continue recruitment of Physicians 
to our growing OB/GYN, Pediatric and Urology practices and will be welcoming a new General 
Surgeon and Adult & Pediatric Hospitalist early in the new fiscal year. 
 
Information Technology: In April of 2022 we successfully implemented our new Electronic Health 
Record. We continue to adopt cyber security measures within health information technology to 
improve quality, enhance patient safety and meet required measurements while lowering costs. 

36/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(5) 

 
INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED) 

Joint Board/Medical Staff Decision Making: Create a culture with the board of trustees and the 
Medical Staff that is collaborative and will allow the Hospital to move forward with partnerships 
and/or affiliations that will provide the most comprehensive care for Sweetwater County and its 
surrounding areas. 
 
Strategic Plan: The Hospital began working on the next 3-5-year strategic plan. The plan will 
include strategic pillars in Patient Experience, Workplace Experience, Quality & Safety, Growth & 
Community and Financial Stewardship. The benefit of delivering quality health care and better 
customer service helps to drive costs down, which creates more value for the patient. Providing 
the highest value of care to the patient through improved quality and better customer service, all 
at a lower cost, is our number one priority.  
 

Patient Experience: The Hospital has been diligent in striving to provide our patients with 
excellent customer service. We have implemented the Planetree initiatives surrounding person 
centered care and continue to train all our employees and contracted staff in the programs. Our 
patient satisfaction scores continue to increase with the ongoing efforts of improvement. 

 
Workplace Experience: Through improved communication, professional development and the 
new person-based culture program, the Hospital strives to be the employer of choice in 
Sweetwater County. 
 
Quality & Safety: The Hospital continues to meet the increasing quality initiatives. Recognizing 
that reimbursement is driven by these efforts, we have created a specialized team to ensure our 
quality measures meet and exceed the standards. We have implemented process improvement 
plans across the house to help with efficiency and identify waste. 

 
Community & Growth: The Hospital is building on community partnerships by implementing 
clinic improvements, including better access to care. Involvement of our patients, staff and 
community will be instrumental in making decisions on new service lines, specialties, and 
potential new community relationships. 
 
Financial Stewardship: The Hospital strives to provide quality health care at a lower cost by 
managing expenses and maximizing reimbursement. 

 
These strategies will serve as a compass to help guide us to achieve our Mission, Vision and Values 
newly adopted in 2018: 

 
Mission: Compassionate care for every life we touch. 
 
Vision: To be our community’s trusted health care leader. 
 
Values: Be kind. Be respectful. Be accountable. Work collaboratively. Embrace excellence. 

37/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(6) 

 
INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED) 

Fiscal year 2023 focused on rebounding from the pandemic and stabilizing our financial position. The 
new year brought financial challenges to hospitals nationwide including payer compliance, federal 
regulations and an evolving workforce. 
 
The Hospital’s employed physicians can be found in three different locations; including the Hospital, the 
attached medical office building (MOB) and offsite at the Family and Occupational Medicine Clinic. The 
Hospital continues to grow its services to local industry in Sweetwater County through our Occupational 
Health service line established in 2017. During the pandemic, we opened a Walk-In Clinic at the Family 
Practice building and have seen it steadily grow as we offer this new option to our Community. 
 
Over the last several years the Hospital has been successful in lowering the average age of plant. With 
the assistance of covid relief funds, we were able to purchase capital equipment that enabled us to take 
better care of our patients during the pandemic, and into the future. We were able to update our HVAC 
systems to provide a safer facility during the pandemic and any future health issues impacting our 
community. 
 
Quality and patient satisfaction will continue to play a role in hospital reimbursement in the future. The 
Executive Team has been proactive in ensuring that quality outcomes are the best they can be and that 
patient satisfaction scores are in the top percentile. The Hospital is striving to realize our Vision for the 
future of providing exceptional patient care by focusing on quality and safety of patient care, providing 
excellent customer service through teamwork and a positive culture, increasing market share and 
service growth, and enhanced medical staff development. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Foundation (Foundation) was created to help support the 
Hospital. The Foundation was instrumental in assisting the hospital with available grants and 
assistance during the pandemic. The Foundation’s financial statements are included in the combined 
financial statements. The Hospital and the Foundation are collectively referred to as the Hospital 
throughout the combined financial statements.   
 
The affiliation with the University of Utah, renewed in 2021, allows the Hospital to expand its service 
line without investment into full time staff, facilities and equipment for highly specialized procedures and 
services that would not be economically justifiable given the population size of the primary service area. 
The affiliation limits outmigration of patients by keeping them close to home, provides a high level of 
specialty care and allows the Hospital to retain revenue that might have otherwise gone to other 
hospitals. Through the affiliation, the Hospital and University of Utah provide telemedicine services for 
stroke, burn, and ICU services, Maternal Fetal Medicine, Cardiology and Vascular services, and 
Dermatology services. The Hospital staff have the opportunity to gain knowledge and skills through 
education and shadowing at the University of Utah. The Hospital continues to look at new services that 
can be offered through the University of Utah. The Hospital also benefits from the affiliations with the 
Huntsman Cancer Center through the University of Utah. 
 

38/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(7) 

 
COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on hospitals will continue years beyond the actual 
pandemic. It will take time to turnaround the effects of the staffing shortages, inflationary impacts on 
drugs and supplies, economic impacts on patient collections and payer mix and the overall change in 
the delivery of healthcare. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County was not isolated from the COVID-19 pandemic. Contract 
staffing became a necessity to maintain safe staffing levels. As we witnessed nationwide, and have 
previously reported, we had nurses, respiratory technicians and laboratory technicians leave their jobs 
to work for traveling wages. We also saw contract traveler rates immediately increase as much as 
170%. We never made the decision to lay off or furlough any of our employed staff. 
 
Inflation and supply chain issues put pressure on the bottom line. Pharmacy costs, medical supplies, 
utilities, and freight expenses increased by more than the reported 8% inflation. Supply chain issues 
also impacted expenses with some vendors requiring bulk purchases to guarantee any product. This 
has now become an issue of storage space and expiring supplies. We have also seen the impact of 
inflation and supply chain issues on our facility and construction projects. 
 
From the economic downfall from the pandemic, we saw changes in payer mix and collection rates as 
people lost their jobs and health insurance. We have recently seen our payor mix start to move back to 
pre-pandemic favorable levels. 
 
During the pandemic patients chose to defer care, either because of financial restraints or decreased 
access. We are now seeing higher acuity patients due to delaying or avoiding care which has resulted 
in higher volumes, longer lengths of stay and higher average daily census. In fiscal year 2023, we saw 
our clinic, surgical and ancillary visits rise back to pre-pandemic levels. 
 
REVENUE CYCLE MANAGEMENT 

The Hospital implemented Cerner, our new electronic medical record (EMR) and patient billing system 
at the end of fiscal year 2022. As expected with any major conversion, we experienced delays in 
charge capture, coding, billing, and collection of patient accounts. This impacted our days in accounts 
receivable and days cash on hand. Our revenue cycle continued to see these impacts into fiscal year 
2023 as we learned the new systems and worked through issues with workflows and processes. 

39/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(8) 

 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 

The Hospital’s combined financial statements consist of three statements – a combined statement of 
net position; a combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and a 
combined statement of cash flows. These combined financial statements and related notes provide 
information about the activities of the Hospital, including resources held by the Hospital, but restricted 
for specific purposes by contributors, grantors, or enabling legislation. 
 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• The Hospital recorded an operating loss of $4,463,995 and an operating loss of $4,782,310 in 
2023 and 2022, respectively. 

• The Hospital recorded a decrease in overall net position of $2,850,725 and $3,238,565 in 2023 
and 2022, respectively. 

• The days in net patient accounts receivable are 57 and 67 in 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

• The Hospital’s favorable payer mix has seen some decline due to the weakening statewide 
economy and the aging population. We have seen a growth in Medicare and Medicaid with a 
corresponding decrease in commercial insurance patients.  

• In FY2023 we saw our revenues rebound back to pre-pandemic numbers, but we continued to 
see the growth in expenses from inflationary pressure on pharmacy and medical supplies. 
However, this resulted in the decrease in our days cash on hand. 

• Revenue cycle issues from our new system and external payer requirements impacted denials 
and prior authorizations. 

 
THE COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION AND COMBINED STATEMENTS OF 
REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

One of the most important questions asked about the Hospital’s finances is “Is the Hospital as a whole 
better or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The combined statements of net position and the 
combined statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position report information about the 
Hospital’s resources and its activities in a way that helps answer this question. These combined 
statements include all restricted and unrestricted assets and all liabilities using the accrual basis of 
accounting. All the current year’s revenues and expenses are considered regardless of when cash is 
received or paid. 
 
These two combined statements report the Hospital’s net position and changes in them. You can think 
of the Hospital’s net position – the difference between assets and liabilities – as one way to measure 
the Hospital’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Hospital’s 
net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need 
to consider other nonfinancial factors, however, such as changes in the Hospital’s patient base and 
measures of the quality of service it provides to the community, as well as local economic factors to 
assess the overall health of the Hospital. 

40/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(9) 

 
THE COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

The final required statement is the combined statement of cash flows. The combined statement reports 
cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations, investing, and 
financing activities. It provides answers to such questions as “Where did cash come from?”, “What was 
cash used for?”, and “What was the change in cash balance during the reporting period?” 
 
THE HOSPITAL’S COMBINED NET POSITION 

The Hospital’s combined net position is the difference between its assets and liabilities reported in the 
statement of net position. The Hospital’s net position has decreased by $2,850,725 and $3,238,565 in 
2023 and 2022, respectively, as shown in Table 1. 
 
TABLE 1: COMBINED ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS

Current Assets 40,989,454$       35,821,496$       29,313,549$       

Noncurrent Cash and Investments and Other 19,379,521         22,419,249         38,468,142         

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 79,124,792         83,246,546         84,278,414         

Total Assets 139,493,767       141,487,291       152,060,105       

Deferred Outflow from Long-Term Debt Refinancing 930,753              1,028,699 210,003

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 140,424,520$     142,515,990$     152,270,108$     

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities 18,158,757$       16,204,381$       18,307,964$       

Other Long-Term Liabilities -                         -                         1,539,174           

Long-Term Debt 37,781,028         38,976,149         41,848,945         

Total Liabilities 55,939,785         55,180,530         61,696,083         

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 36,539,980         40,441,458         38,829,880         

Restricted for Debt Service Reserve 1,515,814           637,426              3,015,531           

Restricted by Contributions and Grantors for 

  Capital Acquisition 468,936              433,563              394,721              

Unrestricted 45,960,005         45,823,013         48,333,893         

Total Net Position 84,484,735         87,335,460         90,574,025         

Total Liabilities and Net Position 140,424,520$     142,515,990$     152,270,108$     
 

41/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(10) 

 
COMBINED OPERATING RESULTS AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

In 2023, the Hospital’s net position decreased by $2,850,725 as shown in Table 2. This decrease is 
made up of the following components: 
 
TABLE 2: OPERATING RESULTS AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

2023 2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUE

Operating Revenues 111,763,736$  104,992,942$  93,398,642$    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating Expenses 116,227,731    109,775,252    98,790,256      

OPERATING LOSS (4,463,995)       (4,782,310)       (5,391,614)       

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses, Net (510,302)          935,450           4,681,617        

DEFICIT OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES (4,974,297)       (3,846,860)       (709,997)          

Other Changes in Net Position 2,123,572        608,295           5,577,219        

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION (2,850,725)       (3,238,565)       4,867,222        

Net Position - Beginning of Year 87,335,460      90,574,025      85,706,803      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 84,484,735$    87,335,460$    90,574,025$    

 
OPERATING INCOME 

The first component of the overall change in the Hospital’s net assets is its operating income, generally, 
the difference between net patient service revenue and other operating revenues and the expenses 
incurred to perform those services. In fiscal year 2023 the Hospital reported an operating loss of 
$4,463,995 and in fiscal year 2022 the Hospital reported an operating loss of $4,782,310. 
 
The Hospital provides charity care to the patients who meet Hospital set guidelines. Charges foregone 
for charity care of $2,584,450 and $2,030,555 were provided in 2023 and 2022, respectively. Because 
there is no expectation of payment, charity care is not reported as patient service revenues of the 
Hospital. In 2023 and 2022, assistance funds of $401,917 and $331,910, respectively, were received 
from Sweetwater County to help offset the cost of maintenance in the Hospital. 
 
NONOPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

Nonoperating revenues and expenses consist primarily of rental revenue and expenses from Hospital 
property, investment income, interest expense and residual amounts still collected from the special 
purpose sales tax. The sales tax revenues make up approximately 1.7% and 0.1% of the total 
nonoperating revenue for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

42/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(11) 

 
THE HOSPITAL’S CASH FLOWS 

Changes in the Hospital’s cash flows are consistent with changes in operating gains, nonoperating 
revenues and expenses, discussed earlier. The Hospital’s cash and cash equivalents, including 
restricted and designated cash and investments, increased from $15,514,855 in 2022 to $15,839,550 in 
2023. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

At the end of 2023, the Hospital had $79,124,792 invested in capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation. In 2023 and 2022, the Hospital had disbursements of approximately $2,282,000 and 
$6,400,000, respectively, for new equipment and construction-related costs. 
 
Long-Term Debt 

Refinancing: The Hospital had two Variable Rate Demand Notes (VRDNs) outstanding in the amount of 
$25,550,000. These bonds were originally issued in 2006 and 2008 in the aggregate amount of $48.6 
million for the purpose of the Hospital’s major renovation and expansion which was completed in 2009. 
A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2013 bonds were used to refinance the remaining bonds and 
convert them to fixed rate bonds. 
 
Financing Plan: The Series 2013 Bonds were comprised of two components: The first was financing the 
construction and equipping of a medical office building adjacent to the Hospital and the second portion 
was refinancing the Hospital’s approximately $25 million of Variable Rate Demand Notes outstanding, 
backed by a bank letter of credit, to a fixed rate. 
 
The financing for the MOB was issued as privately placed variable rate bonds to one or more 
commercial banks (the Bank Bonds). While on a parity with other indebtedness, these bonds were 
largely paid from the voter approved Specific Purpose Tax. In November 2012, authorized voters in 
Sweetwater County approved the enactment of a $0.01 Specific Purpose Tax (SPT) in the aggregate 
amount of $81.8 million for qualifying projects. The portion allocable to the Hospital was $18.9 million. 
As part of the structure of the Bank Bonds, the County Treasurer entered into an agreement to send the 
monthly SPT receipts directly to the Bond Trustee with instructions to pay interest due and to redeem 
as much principal of outstanding bonds as such collected receipts permit until the Bonds were paid in 
full. The 2013B Bonds were paid in full as of September 2018.  
 
In fiscal year 2022, the existing Series 2013A bonds were refinanced for the purpose of saving interest 
costs. The Series 2021 Taxable Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds (Convertible to Tax -Exempt) were 
executed in December 2021. The bonds were converted to tax exempt in June 2023. 
 

43/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(12) 

 
2024 OUTLOOK 

The outlook for 2024 remains stable. The pandemic greatly impacted 2020 and 2021 and continued 
into 2022 and 2023. With the Provider Relief Funds received through the CARES Act in FY2020 and 
FY2022, the hospital remained stable. The plan for 2024 is to remain vigilant of the effects of the 
pandemic and to focus on revenue cycle management. The fiscal year budget reflects an increase in 
gross revenue with decreasing costs for contract staffing as we work to hire our own staff. Inflationary 
impact on drugs and supplies are expected to continue and are built into the budget. Clinic, surgical 
and ancillary visits will increase, outpacing pre-pandemic levels. 
 
Despite the end of government assistance, the pandemic continues along with the related expenses. 
We will continue to focus on growing new and established physician practices, physician retention, 
increasing revenue through new and expanded services and adapting to the change in payer mix by 
focusing on the revenue cycle. The Executive Team of the Hospital has established a physician 
recruitment plan to sustain both needed specialties and an adequate number of practices in our area. 
 
The Hospital continues to adjust to the changing landscape of the health care industry. The transition 
from inpatient care to outpatient care will affect reimbursement which will require continued monitoring 
and adjusting of expenses and resources. Opportunities to increase outpatient market share and new 
service lines will be the focus in 2024. The Hospital’s goal is to capitalize on the growth in the existing 
physician practices, while expanding health care services that have been absent in Sweetwater County 
and Southwest Wyoming. Depending on the ongoing impact of the pandemic, the hospital is in the 
position to deliver quality patient care, excellent patient satisfaction and continue to increase market 
share; while striving to be fiscally responsible to achieve a positive operating margin in fiscal year 2024. 
 
CONTACTING THE HOSPITAL’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide our patients, suppliers, taxpayers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the Hospital’s finances and to the Hospital’s accountability for the money it 
receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the 
Hospital’s Chief Financial Officer at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, 1200 College Drive, Rock 
Springs, Wyoming 82901. 
 
 

44/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(13) 

 
2023 2022

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,004,423$    7,504,670$      

Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 1,515,814        637,426           

Receivables:

Patients, Net of Estimated Uncollectibles of Approximately

  $8,056,000 in 2023 and $6,552,000 in 2022 17,144,559      19,010,390      

Current Maturities of Notes Receivable 255,739           201,711           

Other 5,386,521        2,534,269        

Supplies 3,831,106        4,054,218        

Prepaid Expenses 1,851,292        1,878,812        

Total Current Assets 40,989,454      35,821,496      

NONCURRENT CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 468,936           433,563           

Board Designated 18,390,901      21,485,576      

Total Noncurrent Cash and Investments 18,859,837      21,919,139      

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 79,124,792 83,246,546      

OTHER ASSETS

Rental Property, Net 241,629           268,926           

Notes Receivable, Less Current Maturities 201,156           154,285           

Other Assets 76,899             76,899             

Total Other Assets 519,684           500,110           

Total Assets 139,493,767    141,487,291    

DEFERRED OUTFLOW FROM LONG-TERM DEBT REFINANCING 930,753           1,028,699        

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 140,424,520$  142,515,990$  

 
 

45/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(14) 

 
2023 2022

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 4,750,462$      3,706,545$      

Accounts Payable 7,057,061        5,269,236        

Construction Payables 53,322             122,394           

Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements 203,269           231,786           

Other Current Liabilities -                       1,255,068        

Accrued Expenses:

Salaries, Wages, and Payroll Taxes 2,077,790        1,787,857        

Vacation 3,014,608        2,804,901        

Health Insurance Claims 725,000           725,000           

Interest 277,245           301,594           

Total Current Liabilities 18,158,757      16,204,381      

LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT MATURITIES 37,781,028      38,976,149      

Total Liabilities 55,939,785      55,180,530      

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 36,539,980      40,441,458      

Restricted for Debt Service Reserve 1,515,814        637,426           

Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 468,936           433,563           

Unrestricted 45,960,005      45,823,013      

Total Net Position 84,484,735      87,335,460      

Total Liabilities and Net Position 140,424,520$  142,515,990$  

 
 

46/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND 

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 

 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(15) 

 
2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES

Net Patient Service Revenue (Net of Provision for Bad Debts of

  Approximately $12,846,000 in 2023 and $11,722,000 in 2022) 109,767,746$  102,961,872$  

Other Operating Revenues 1,995,990        2,031,070        

Total Operating Revenues 111,763,736    104,992,942    

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and Wages 46,102,973      44,570,949      

Employee Benefits 14,005,248      12,961,824      

Professional Fees - Physicians 3,567,629        4,370,089        

Purchased Services 11,784,530      12,380,609      

Supplies 20,899,858      17,625,662      

Repairs and Maintenance 4,877,207        5,964,482        

Insurance 771,739           660,288           

Utilities 1,340,054        1,173,797        

Leases and Rental 424,332           380,389           

Depreciation 10,436,019      7,770,234        

Other Expenses 2,018,142        1,916,929        

Total Operating Expenses 116,227,731    109,775,252    

OPERATING LOSS (4,463,995)       (4,782,310)       

NONOPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES

Interest Income 497,740           243,145           

Interest Expense (1,080,961)       (1,421,459)       

Bond Issuance Costs -                       (428,105)          

Rent and Other 183,171           146,050           

Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets 941                  (184,392)          

Sales Tax Revenues 11,732             1,778               

Unrealized Loss on Investments (158,659)          (587,380)          

Grant Revenue -                       3,127,087        

Restricted Gifts and Grants 907,484           129,007           

Grants Expended for Operations (871,750)          (90,281)            

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses, Net (510,302)          935,450           

DEFICIT OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES (4,974,297)       (3,846,860)       

Capital Grants and Contributions 2,123,572        608,295           

DECREASE IN NET POSITION (2,850,725)       (3,238,565)       

Net Position - Beginning of Year 87,335,460      90,574,025      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 84,484,735$    87,335,460$    
 

 

47/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(16) 

 
2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from and on Behalf of Patients 111,605,060$  94,651,816$    

Other Receipts and Payments, Net (2,139,611)       (4,135,768)       

Cash Paid to Employees (59,608,581)     (56,707,307)     

Cash Paid to Suppliers and Others (43,645,034)     (43,740,154)     

  Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 6,211,834        (9,931,413)       

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Restricted, Gifts, Grants, and Other Changes, 

  Net of Expended for Operations 35,734             3,165,813        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND CAPITAL RELATED

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Construction and Purchase of Capital Assets (2,282,263)       (6,369,335)       

Capital Grants and Contributions 2,123,572        608,295           

Sales Tax Revenue 40,013             -                       

Payment of Issuance Costs -                       (428,105)          

Loss on Refinancing of Debt -                       (2,000,101)       

Proceeds from Long-Term Debt -                       26,835,000      

Principal Paid on Long-Term Debt (4,224,040)       (28,739,478)     

Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt (1,007,364)       (1,630,601)       

Net Cash Used by Capital and Capital

  Related Financing Activities (5,350,082)       (11,724,325)     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment Income 339,081           (344,235)          

Rent and Other 183,171           146,050           

(Increase) Decrease of Notes Receivable (100,899)          32,206             

Receipts of Notes Receivable -                       6,944               

Purchases of Investments (6,454,930)       (5,277,174)       

Proceeds from Sale of Investments 5,460,786        5,657,860        

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (572,791)          221,651           

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 324,695           (18,268,274)     

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 15,514,855      33,783,129      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 15,839,550$    15,514,855$    
 

 
 

48/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(17) 

 
2023 2022

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO

  THE STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Current Assets 11,004,423$    7,504,670$      

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Restricted by Bond

  Indenture Agreements 1,515,814        637,426           

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Board Designated 2,850,377        6,939,196        

Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted

  by Contributors and Grantors 468,936           433,563           

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 15,839,550$    15,514,855$    

Total Noncurrent Cash and Investments Included Above 3,319,313$      7,372,759$      

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET 

  CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Loss (4,463,995)$     (4,782,310)$     

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss

  to Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 10,436,019      7,770,234        

Provision for Bad Debts 12,846,139      11,722,031      

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Receivables (13,860,841)     (20,925,287)     

Supplies 223,112           (279,559)          

Prepaid Expenses 27,520             290,737           

Accounts Payable 1,787,825        720,913           

Accrued Expenses 499,640           825,466           

Other Liabilities (1,255,068)       (5,242,929)       

Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements (28,517)            (30,709)            

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 6,211,834$      (9,931,413)$     

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH FINANCING 

  ACTIVITIES
Fixed Assets Included in Accounts Payable 53,322$           122,394$         

Issuance of Lease Obligations 3,722,352$      1,356,407$      

Issuance of Subscription-Based Information Technology 
  Arrangements 350,484$         -$                     

 
 

49/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(18) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) is a 99-bed general acute care facility 
located in Rock Springs, Wyoming. The Hospital’s primary mission is to provide health care 
to the residents of Sweetwater County through its acute care services. The Hospital is a 
component unit of Sweetwater County, Wyoming (County) and participates in the County’s 
tax levies. The Hospital, as a component unit of the County, is exempt from income taxes 
under current regulations. 
 
The Hospital is governed by a board of trustees, which has all of the powers necessary and 
convenient to provide for the acquisition, betterment, operation, maintenance, and 
administration of the facilities as the board of trustees determines to be necessary and 
expedient. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Foundation (Foundation) is a Wyoming nonprofit 
corporation that is reported as a blended component unit of the Hospital. The Foundation’s 
sole purpose is to support the Hospital. The Foundation is a nonprofit corporation as 
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and is exempt from 
federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC. The 
Foundation has $3,878,715 and $3,634,069 of assets and $1,103,728 and $510,103 of 
revenue for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Collectively, Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County Foundation are referred to as the Hospital in the combined financial statements. 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts 
and reported in the combined financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing 
of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. The Hospital’s 
combined financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The accompanying combined financial statements 
have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred. 
 
The Hospital uses enterprise fund accounting. Revenues and expenses are recognized on 
the accrual basis, using the economic resources measurement focus, based on GASB 
Codification Topic 1600, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and 
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended. 
 

50/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(19) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits and highly liquid investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less, unless otherwise designated or restricted. 
 
Patient Receivables 

Patient receivables are uncollateralized patient and third-party payor obligations. Payments 
of patient receivables are allocated to the specific claims identified in the remittance advice 
or, if unspecified, are applied to the earliest unpaid claim. 
 
The carrying amount of patient receivables is reduced by a valuation allowance that reflects 
management’s estimate of amounts that will not be collected from patients and third-party 
payors. Management reviews patient receivables by payor class and applies percentages to 
determine estimated amounts that will not be collected from third parties under contractual 
agreements and amounts that will not be collected from patients due to bad debts. 
Management considers historical write-off and recovery information in determining the 
estimated bad debt provision. 
 
Supplies 

Supplies are stated at lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. 
 
Noncurrent Cash and Investments 

Interest and dividends are included in nonoperating revenues when earned. Interest 
earnings on borrowed proceeds for capital acquisition are capitalized. 
 
The Hospital’s investments are maintained in accordance with Wyoming Statute 9-4-831. 
This statute limits the types of investments the Hospital may invest in as listed in 
Section 9-4-831(a). The Hospital has adopted an investment policy as directed under 
Section 9-4-831(h). 
 
Restricted investments consist of funds restricted in accordance with bond indenture 
agreements, funds restricted by donor for an endowment and purchase of equipment, and 
funds restricted by the board for capital improvements. Restricted investments that are 
available for obligations classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. All 
investments are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices. 

51/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(20) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets acquisitions in excess of $5,000 are capitalized and recorded at historical 
cost. Contributed capital assets are reported at their estimated fair value at the time of their 
donation. All capital assets other than land are depreciated or amortized (in the case of 
capital leases) using the straight-line method of depreciation using these asset lives: 
 

Land Improvements  5 to 20 Years  
Buildings  5 to 40 Years  
Moveable Equipment  3 to 20 Years 

 
Notes Receivable 

Notes receivable are stated at principal amounts and are uncollateralized. Payments on 
notes receivable are allocated to the outstanding principal and accrued interest balances. 
Management reviews all notes receivable periodically and estimates a portion, if any, of the 
balance that will not be collected. 
 
Deferred Outflow of Resources 

Deferred outflow of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a 
future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. 
Deferred outflow of resources consist of unrecognized items not yet charged to interest 
expense. 
 
Trust Funds 

The Hospital acts as custodian for the funds of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Auxiliary. Trust funds and the related liability are included in cash and accounts payable in 
the combined financial statements. The balance of these funds was $115,056 and $111,688 
at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Compensated Absences 

The Hospital’s employees earn paid-time-off and sick leave at varying rates depending on 
years of service. Paid-time-off and sick leave accumulate up to a specified maximum 
depending upon length of service. Employees are paid for accumulated paid-time-off upon 
termination. Sick leave accumulated is forfeited upon termination. 
 
Self-Funded Health Insurance 

The provision for estimated health insurance claims includes estimates of the ultimate costs 
for both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported. 
 
Restricted Resources 

When the Hospital has both restricted and unrestricted resources available to finance a 
particular program, it is the Hospital’s policy to use restricted resources before unrestricted 
resources. 

52/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(21) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Net Position 

Net position of the Hospital is classified in four components. Net position invested in capital 
assets consist of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the current 
balances of any outstanding borrowings used to finance the purchase or construction of 
those assets. Restricted for debt service reserve and restricted by contributors and grantors 
is the noncapital net position that must be used for a particular purpose, as specified by 
creditors, grantors, or contributors external to the Hospital. Unrestricted net position is the 
remaining net position that does not meet the definition of invested in capital assets or 
restricted. 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses 

The Hospital’s combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 
distinguishes between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating 
revenues result from exchange transactions associated with providing health care services – 
the Hospital’s principal activity. Nonexchange revenues, including taxes, grants, and 
contributions received for purposes other than capital asset acquisition, are reported as 
nonoperating revenues. Operating expenses are all expenses incurred to provide health 
care services, other than financing costs. 
 
Net Patient Service Revenue 

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the 
Hospital at amounts different from its established rates. Payment arrangements include 
prospectively determined rates, reimbursed costs, discounted charges, and per diem 
payments. Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts 
from patients, third-party payors, and others for services rendered, including estimated 
retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party payors. 
Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related 
services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined. 
 
Charity Care 

To fulfill its mission of community service, the Hospital provides care to patients who meet 
certain criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at amounts less than its 
established rates. Because the Hospital does not pursue collection of amounts determined 
to qualify as charity care, they are not reported as net patient service revenue. 
 

53/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(22) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Relief Funds 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the spread of Coronavirus Disease 
(COVID-19) a worldwide pandemic. Given the significant impact the pandemic had on global 
markets, supply chains, businesses and communities, the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services (HHS) made available emergency relief grant funds to health care 
providers. Additionally, the State Loan and Investment Board (SLIB) made available multiple 
preparedness and response grants. Total grant funds approved and received by the 
Hospital from these grants was $-0- and $2,453,201 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. The grant funds are subject to certain restrictions on eligible expenses or 
uses, and reporting requirements. Of the total amount received, $-0- and $2,453,201 is 
reported as Grant Revenue in the combined statements of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
 
Other Current Liabilities 

As part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act the Centers for 
Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) administered an Accelerated and Advanced Payment 
Program to provide additional relief funds to providers. During the year ended June 30, 2020 
the Hospital received total advanced funds through the Accelerated and Advanced Payment 
Program of $7,436,021, which started being recouped by CMS one year from the date the 
funds were received. During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, $1,255,068 and 
$5,242,929, respectively, were paid back to CMS. At June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, 
$-0- and $1,255,068 of funds are reflected as Other Current Liabilities on the combined 
statements of net position. 
 
County Support 

The Hospital received approximately $402,000 and $332,000 or 0.4% and 0.3% of total 
operating and nonoperating revenue in direct financial support from the County, for the 
years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The amount received is reported as 
Other Operating Revenues or Capital Grants and Contributions in the combined statements 
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. The primary source of the funds is from 
the general funds of the County. The Hospital applies to the County for these funds, which 
the County distributes through resolution. For both years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
these funds were used to reimburse the Hospital for maintenance expenses. 

54/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(23) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Grants and Contributions 

From time to time, the Hospital receives grants and contributions from individuals and 
private organizations. Revenues from grants and contributions (including contributions of 
capital assets) are recognized when all eligibility requirements, including time requirements, 
are met. Grants and contributions may be restricted for either specific operating purposes or 
for capital purposes. Amounts that are unrestricted or that are restricted to a specific 
operating purpose are reported as nonoperating revenues. Amounts restricted for capital 
acquisitions are reported after nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Advertising Costs 

The Hospital expenses advertising costs as incurred. 
 
Risk Management 

The Hospital is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and 
illnesses; natural disasters; medical malpractice; and employee health, dental, and accident 
benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters. 
Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding 
years. 
 
Reclassifications  

Certain items in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the Hospital’s overall net 
position. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 

To the extent available, the Hospital’s investments are recorded at fair value. GASB 
Statement No. 72 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. This statement establishes a hierarchy of valuation inputs based on the 
extent to which inputs are observable in the marketplace. Inputs are used in applying the 
various valuation techniques and take in to account the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit 
data, interest and yield curve data, and other factors specific to the financial instrument. 
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources. 
 
In contrast, unobservable inputs reflect an entity’s assumptions about how market 
participants would value the financial instrument. Valuation techniques should maximize the 
use of observable inputs to the extent available. A financial instrument’s level within the fair 
value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

55/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(24) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary 
valuation methodologies used for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis: 
 

Level 1 – Inputs that utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the Hospital has the ability to access. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Fair values for these 
instruments are estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar 
characteristics, or discounted cash flows. 
 
Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are typically 
based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity. 

 
Adoption of New Accounting Standards 

In May 2020, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information 
Technology Arrangements. This standard defines a subscription-based information 
technology arrangement (SBITA); establishes that a SBITA results in a right-to-use 
subscription asset (an intangible asset) and a corresponding subscription liability; provides 
the capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including 
implementation costs of a SBITA; and requires note disclosures regarding a SBITA. 
 
The Hospital adopted the requirements of the guidance effective July 1, 2022 and has 
applied the provisions of this standard to the beginning of the period of adoption. The 
implementation of this standard resulted in the Hospital reporting a SBITA asset and a 
SBITA  liability as disclosed in Note 7 and Note 8.  
 
 

NOTE 2 CHARITY CARE 

The Hospital maintains records to identify and monitor the level of charity care it provides. 
These records include the amount of charges foregone for services and supplies furnished 
under its charity care policy, and an estimated cost (based on cost to charge ratio) of those 
services and supplies. The estimated costs and expenses incurred to provide charity care 
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, was approximately $1,168,000 and $879,000, 
respectively. 
 

56/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(25) 

 
NOTE 3 NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE 

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the 
Hospital at amounts different from its established rates. A summary of the payment 
arrangements with major third-party payors follows: 
 

Medicare 

Acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries were paid at 
prospectively determined rates per visit. These rates varied according to a patient 
classification system that was based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. The 
Hospital is entitled to certain additional payments on a sole community provider. The 
Hospital is reimbursed for these payments after submission of annual cost reports by the 
Hospital and audits thereof by the Medicare fiscal intermediary. The Hospital’s Medicare 
cost reports have been finalized by the Medicare fiscal intermediary through the year 
ended June 30, 2018. The Hospital’s classification of patients under the Medicare 
program and the appropriateness of their admission are subject to an independent 
review by a peer review organization under contract with the Hospital. 
 
Medicaid 

Acute care services provided to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively 
determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification 
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. 
 
Blue Cross 

Inpatient and outpatient services provided to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at 
established charges except for physician services that are reimbursed based on fee 
screens. 

 
Revenue from the Medicare and Medicaid programs accounted for approximately 33% and 
5%, respectively, of the Hospital’s net patient service revenue for the year ended June 30, 
2023 and 22% and 8%, respectively, of the Hospital’s net service patient revenue for the 
year ended June 30, 2022. Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid 
programs are extremely complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a 
reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near 
term. 
 
The Hospital has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance 
carriers and other organizations. The basis for payment to the Hospital under these 
agreements includes charges, prospectively determined rates per discharge, and 
prospectively determined daily rates. 

57/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(26) 

 
NOTE 3 NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE (CONTINUED) 

A summary of patient service revenue, contractual adjustments, and provision for bad debts 
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

2023 2022

Gross Patient Service Revenue 226,981,321$  205,689,842$  

Adjustments and Discounts:

Medicare (52,543,792)     (56,844,224)     

Medicaid (17,926,844)     (12,996,738)     

Other Third-Party Payors (33,896,800)     (21,164,977)     

Provision for Bad Debts (12,846,139)     (11,722,031)     

   Total Adjustments and Discounts (117,213,575)   (102,727,970)   

Net Patient Service Revenue 109,767,746$  102,961,872$  

 
 

NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS  

Deposits 

The Hospital’s deposits are subject to, and in accordance with, Wyoming State Statutes. 
Under these statutes, all uninsured deposits are fully collateralized. The eligible collateral 
pledged shall be held in custody of any Federal Reserve Bank, or branch thereof, or held in 
escrow by some other bank in a manner as the banking commissioner shall prescribe be 
rules and regulations, or may be segregated from the other assets of the eligible public 
depository and held in its own trust department. All collateral so held shall be clearly 
identified as being security maintained or pledged for the aggregate amount of public 
deposits accepted and held on deposit by the eligible public depository. The depository has 
the right at any time to make substitutions of eligible collateral maintained or pledged and 
shall at all times be entitled to collect and retain all income derived from those investments 
with restrictions. The Hospital may legally invest in direct obligations of and other obligations 
guaranteed as to principal by the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies and instrumentalities. 
 
The Hospital’s investments are recorded at fair value and consist of cash and cash 
equivalents and U.S. agency obligations. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, management 
believes the investments were in compliance with the defined rating and risk criteria set forth 
under Wyoming regulations. 
 
The Hospital provides for investment in a variety of investment funds. In general, 
investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market 
volatility risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably 
possible that changes in the values of the investments will occur in the near term and that 
such changes could materially affect the Hospital’s account balances. 

58/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(27) 

 
NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Investments 

The Hospital’s investments are reported at fair value as discussed in Note 1. At June 30, 
2023 and 2022, the Hospital had the following investments and maturities, all of which were 
held in the Hospital’s name by a custodial bank that is an agent of the Hospital. 
 

2023

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 Credit Rating

Money Market 1,786,421$     1,786,421$     -$                   -$                   N/A

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,123,383       1,846,079       3,277,304       -                     AA+ or AAA

U.S. Treasury 1,305,508       1,305,508       -                     -                     AA or AAA

Federal Farm Credit Bank Loan 490,498          -                     490,498          -                     AA+

Federal Home Loan Bank 6,614,829       1,949,465       4,665,364       -                     AA+

Federal National Mortgage 219,885          219,885          -                     -                     AAA

Total Investments 15,540,524$   7,107,358$     8,433,166$     -$                   

Investment Maturity (in Years)

 
2022

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 Credit Rating

Money Market 2,330,181$     2,330,181$     -$                   -$                   N/A

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,214,965       2,564,942       2,650,023       -                     AA+ or AAA

U.S. Treasury 1,859,774       671,842          1,187,932       -                     AA or AAA

Federal Farm Credit Bank Loan 371,354          -                     371,354          -                     AA or AAA

Federal Home Loan Bank 3,126,882       -                     3,126,882       -                     AA or AAA

Federal National Mortgage 1,643,224       1,227,699       415,525          -                     AA or AAA

Total Investments 14,546,380$   6,794,664$     7,751,716$     -$                   

Investment Maturity (in Years)

 
The carrying values of deposits shown above are included in the combined statements of 
net position as follows: 
 

2023 2022

Carrying Value:

Deposits 15,724,451$    15,403,125$    

WYO-STAR State Pooled Funds 115,099           111,730           

Investments 15,540,524      14,546,380      

Total Deposits and Investments 31,380,074$    30,061,235$    

Included in the Following Balance Sheet Captions:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,004,423$    7,504,670$      

Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 468,936           433,563           

Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 1,515,814        637,426           

Designated by Board for Capital Improvements 18,390,901      21,485,576

Total Deposits and Investments 31,380,074$    30,061,235$    
 

59/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(28) 

 
NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Measurements 

The Hospital uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain 
assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. For additional information on 
how the Hospital measures fair value refer to Note 1 – Organization and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies. The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for the 
balances of the assets and liabilities of the Hospital measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 : 
 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,123,383$     -$                   -$                   5,123,383$     

U.S. Government Agencies -                     8,630,720       -                     8,630,720       

Total 5,123,383$     8,630,720$     -$                   13,754,103$   

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,214,965$     -$                   -$                   5,214,965$     

U.S. Government Agencies -                     7,001,234       -                     7,001,234       

Total 5,214,965$     7,001,234$     -$                   12,216,199$   

2022

2023

 
Interest Income 

Interest income of $497,740 and $243,145 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively, is made up entirely of interest income from deposits. 
 
 

NOTE 5 PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Patient accounts receivable for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 consists of the 
following: 
 

2023 2022

Receivable from Patients and Their Insurance Carriers 21,300,553$    20,822,695$    

Receivable from Medicare 3,222,614        3,926,852        

Receivable from Medicaid 677,392           812,843           

Total Patient Accounts Receivable 25,200,559      25,562,390      

Less: Estimated Allowance for Uncollectible Amounts (8,056,000)       (6,552,000)       

Net Patient Accounts Receivable 17,144,559$    19,010,390$    

 
 

NOTE 6 DESIGNATED NET POSITION 

Of the $45,960,005 and $45,823,013 of unrestricted net position reported in 2023 and 2022, 
$18,390,901 and $21,485,576, respectively, are reserve funds to be used at the discretion 
of the Board of Trustees as deemed necessary. 
 

60/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(29) 

 
NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital assets additions, retirements, and balances for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 
2022 are as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

June 30, Transfers June 30,

 2022 Additions Retirements  2023 

Land   18,245$            -$                   -$                   18,245$            

Land Improvements 4,224,049         -                     -                     4,224,049         

Buildings 48,913,909       -                     334,322          49,248,231       
Equipment 130,934,373     4,157,361       465,382          135,557,116     

Totals at Historical Cost 184,090,576     4,157,361       799,704          189,047,641     

Less:  Accumulated Depreciation for:

Land Improvements (3,018,292)        (194,415)         -                     (3,212,707)        
Buildings (17,435,698)      (1,759,287)      -                     (19,194,985)      

Equipment (81,209,612)      (8,453,249)      458,114          (89,204,747)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (101,663,602)    (10,406,951)    458,114          (111,612,439)    

Capital Assets, Net before Construction

  in Progress 82,426,974       (6,249,590)      1,257,818       77,435,202       

Construction in Progress 819,572            2,131,405       (1,261,387)      1,689,590         

Capital Assets, Net 83,246,546$     (4,118,185)$    (3,569)$           79,124,792$     

Balance Balance

June 30, Transfers June 30,

 2021 Additions Retirements  2022 

Land   18,245$            -$                   -$                   18,245$            

Land Improvements 4,006,914         -                     217,135          4,224,049         

Buildings 41,264,157       -                     7,649,752       48,913,909       

Equipment 129,870,285     1,711,226       (647,138)         130,934,373     

Totals at Historical Cost 175,159,601     1,711,226       7,219,749       184,090,576     

Less: Accumulated Depreciation for:

Land Improvements (2,954,078)        (187,357)         123,143          (3,018,292)        

Buildings (17,196,225)      (1,279,465)      1,039,992       (17,435,698)      

Equipment (78,847,132)      (6,027,554)      3,665,074       (81,209,612)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (98,997,435)      (7,494,376)      4,828,209       (101,663,602)    

Capital Assets, Net before Construction

  in Progress 76,162,166       (5,783,150)      12,047,958     82,426,974       

Construction in Progress 8,116,248         6,919,970       (14,216,646)    819,572            

Capital Assets, Net 84,278,414$     1,136,820$     (2,168,688)$    83,246,546$     

 
Construction in progress at June 30, 2023 is related to the bulk oxygen project, building 
automation project, and oncology suite renovation project. The bulk oxygen project has an 
estimated total cost of approximately $433,000 and is expected to be completed during 
fiscal year 2024. The building automation project has an estimated total cost of 
approximately $905,000 and is expected to be completed in September 2023. The oncology 
suite renovation project has an estimated total cost of approximately $653,000 and is 
expected to be completed in September 2023. The projects will be financed with internal 
funds. 

61/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(30) 

 
NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Right of use assets and subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) 
are as follows as of June 30: 
 

2023 2022

Equipment 24,450,660$    20,297,090$    

Less: Accumulated Amortization (5,033,575)       (1,855,242)       
   Total 19,417,085$    18,441,848$    

 
 
 

NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 consists of the following: 
 

Balance Balance Amount

June 30, June 30, Due Within

 2022 Additions Reductions  2023  One Year 

Hospital Revenue Bonds:

Series 2021 26,835,000$    -$                     (515,000)$        26,320,000$    1,455,000$      

SBITAs -                       350,484           (90,561)            259,923           91,197             

Leases 15,847,694      3,722,352        (3,618,479)       15,951,567      3,204,265        

Total SBITA and Lease

   Obligations 15,847,694      4,072,836        (3,709,040)       16,211,490      3,295,462        

Total Long-Term Debt 42,682,694$    4,072,836$      (4,224,040)$     42,531,490$    4,750,462$      

Balance Balance Amount

June 30, June 30, Due Within

2021 Additions Reductions 2022 One Year

Hospital Revenue Bonds:

Series 2013A 26,790,000$    -$                     (26,790,000)$   -$                     -$                     

Series 2013A Bond Premium 952,753           -                       (952,753)          -                       -                       

Series 2021 -                       26,835,000      -                       26,835,000      515,000           

Total Bonds 26,790,000      26,835,000      (26,790,000)     26,835,000      515,000           

Siemen's Note Payable 103,823           -                       (103,823)          -                       -                       

Leases 16,335,489      1,356,407        (1,844,202)       15,847,694      3,191,545        

Total Notes from Direct Borrowings

   and Lease Obligations 16,439,312      1,356,407        (1,948,025)       15,847,694      3,191,545        

Total 43,229,312$    28,191,407$    (28,738,025)$   42,682,694$    3,706,545$      
 

62/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(31) 

 
NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

The terms and due dates of the Hospital’s long-term debt at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

• Sweetwater County, Wyoming Taxable Hospital Revenue Refunding Bond 
(Convertible to Tax-Exempt) Series 2021 (Memorial Hospital Project), dated 
December 17, 2021. Interest is due semi-annually to September 2036 at a 3.19% 
rate. Bonds are secured by Hospital revenues.  

• Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Refunding 
Bonds Series 2013A, dated June 20, 2013. Interest was due annually to September 
2037 at a 5% rate. Bonds were secured by Hospital revenues. Bonds were 
refinanced in December 2021 with the Series 2021 bonds. 

• Siemen’s Note Payable, payable in monthly installments of $8,877, including 
interest at 4.76%, through June 2022. 

• The Hospital leases equipment for various terms under long-term noncancelable 
lease agreements. The leases expire at various dates through September 2030 and 
provide for renewal options. The leases are payable in monthly installments ranging 
from $204 to $114,445, with interest rates ranging from 0.70% to 4.75%. 

• The Hospital has entered into subscription-based information technology 
arrangements (SBITAs). The SBITA is payable in monthly installments of $7,727 
with an interest rate of 2.87% The SBITA expires in 2026 and provides renewal 
options.  
 

Restrictive Covenants 

The Hospital is required to meet certain financial and nonfinancial covenants. Management 
believes the Hospital was in compliance with the restrictive covenants as of June 30, 2023 
and 2022, respectively. 

 
Scheduled principal and interest payments on bonds, leases, and SBITAs are as follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2024 1,455,000$     690,140$        3,204,265$     200,797$        91,197$          1,527$            4,750,462$     892,464$        

2025 1,630,000       605,339          3,114,614       158,556          91,837            887                 4,836,451       764,782          

2026 1,675,000       563,745          2,130,114       121,251          76,889            247                 3,882,003       685,243          

2027 1,715,000       521,082          1,882,153       90,543            -                      -                      3,597,153       611,625          

2028 1,760,000       477,349          1,912,064       59,204            -                      -                      3,672,064       536,553          

2029 to 2033 9,530,000       1,688,655       3,708,357       35,654            -                      -                      13,238,357     1,724,309       

2034 to 2038 8,555,000       437,799          -                      -                      -                      -                      8,555,000       437,799          

Total 26,320,000$   4,984,109$     15,951,567$   666,005$        259,923$        2,661$            42,531,490$   5,652,775$     

Bonds Leases Total Long-Term DebtSBITAs

 

63/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(32) 

 
NOTE 9 PENSION PLANS 

The Hospital has a Section 457 defined contribution pension plan that is available to all 
qualified Hospital employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan upon 
completion of three months of service. The Hospital’s matching contributions are deposited 
into the 401(a) plan described below. 
 
The Hospital has a Section 401(a) defined contribution pension plan that is available to all 
qualified Hospital employees. The Hospital’s contribution is based on a 100% match of 
employee contributions up to a maximum of 7% of participant salaries. Employees are 
eligible to participate in the plan upon completion of one year of service. 
 
The pension expense for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $1,943,755, 
$1,788,966, and $1,739,138, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 10 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

The Hospital grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of who are insured under 
third-party payor agreements. The mix of patient receivables from third-party payors and 
patients at June 30, 2023 and 2022 was as follows: 
 

2023 2022

Medicare 25 % 30 %

Medicaid 7 9

Blue Cross 12 13

Other Third-Party Payors 27 28

Patients 29 20
Total 100 % 100 %

 
 

NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Malpractice Insurance 

The Hospital has malpractice insurance coverage to provide protection for professional 
liability losses on a claims-made basis subject to a limit of $1 million per claim and an annual 
aggregate limit of $3 million. There is additional excess coverage above this limit up to $5 
million. Should the claims-made policy not be renewed or replaced with equivalent 
insurance, claims based on occurrences during its term, but reported subsequently, would 
be uninsured. 

64/193



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 
 

(33) 

 
NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 

Self-Funded Health Insurance 

The Hospital self-funds health benefits for eligible employees and their dependents. Health 
insurance expense is recorded on an accrual basis. An accrued liability is recorded in the 
combined financial statements, which estimates the claims incurred but not yet reported and 
claims reported but not yet paid. The Hospital has stop loss insurance to cover catastrophic 
claims. The Hospital expensed amounts representing the employer’s portion of actual claims 
paid, adjusted for the actuarially determined estimates of liabilities relating to claims 
resulting from services provided prior to the respective fiscal period-end. The Hospital 
recognized approximately $8,486,000 and $7,851,000 of expense during the years ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The estimated liability relating to self-funded health 
insurance was $725,000 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022. 
 
Litigations, Claims, and Disputes 

The Hospital is subject to the usual contingencies in the normal course of operations relating 
to the performance of its tasks under its various programs. In the opinion of management, 
the ultimate settlement of litigation, claims, and disputes in process will not be material to 
the combined financial position of the Hospital. 
 
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and 
local governments. Compliance with these laws and regulations, specifically those relating 
to the Medicare and Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and 
interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown and unasserted at this time. Federal 
government activity has increased with respect to investigations and allegations concerning 
possible violations by health care providers of regulations, which could result in the 
imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of previously 
billed and collected revenues from patient services. Management believes that the Hospital 
is in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations. 
 
 

65/193



CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

 

(34) 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Rock Springs, Wyoming 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the combined financial statements of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (the Hospital), which comprise the combined statement of net position 
as of June 30, 2023, and the related combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated November 7, 2023. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the combined financial statements, we considered the 
Hospital’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
combined financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Hospital’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
 
 

66/193



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(35) 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Hospital’s combined financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the combined financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
November 7, 2023 

67/193



68/193



 

ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date: 12/6/2023 
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: Policy Stat Document: Patient Rights and 

Responsibilities 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 X Revision 
 ______ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: The Patient Rights and Responsibilities 
document is required to meet Joint Commission Standards RI.01.01.01, EP 1 and 
RI.02.01.01, EP 1 and 2. It was due for review, updated by Suzan Campbell, Legal 
Counsel, and reviewed by senior leadership before being brought to the Board. 

 
Board Committee Action: 
 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     X For Review Only 
 _______ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 X In-House Comments: Patient Rights and Responsibilities was re-
written by Suzan Campbell, Legal Counsel. 
 _______ Board  Comments: 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: Recommend first reading and approving the 
re-written and updated policy version at a subsequent Board Meeting. Ann 
Clevenger DNP, RN, NEA-BC 11/27/2023 

69/193



COPY

S Pending PS ID 3996342

A N/A

R D 3  


D
A

G -
H

R.
S

TJC
RI.01.01.01,
EP 1, TJC
RI.02.01.01,
EP 1, 2

Patient Rights and Responsibilities

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY (MHSC)      
(),  ,          ,
    . T       
      , ,     MHSC.

TEXT
PATIENT RIGHTS
A   ,     MHSC       :

• T     , :

◦ R   ,    '   

◦ R       

• T      

• T  

• T     , ,   

• T       

• T  

• T     

• T ,   ,        

• T    ,  ,        
 ' 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 4

70/193



COPY

• T       , , , , , ,
   ,  , ,  ,  
  

• T             ' ,
    

• T         '      
, ,    

• T       ,   

• T  '        

• T  , ,          

• T                .
T         ,     
' .

• T        ,   

• T        ' , ,    
         

• T       ,      
 

• T     

• T          , ,    
    ' 

• T     ()      ' ,
,  

• T    , ,  , ,    

• T           -

• T           , ,
,     

• T     

• T              

• T    MHSC' E (  ) C

• T     

• T      

• T            

• T     

• T               
          '     ,
,  .

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 4

71/193



COPY

PATIENT RESPONSIBILITIES
A   , ,    MHSC      
:

• T      , ,  

• T             
  

• T  , , ,         


• T         

• T   ,       

• T     

• T     MHSC

• T       - 

• T         , ,     
:

◦ D        

◦ R    

◦ P   /       

• T       

• T            

• T     '        

• T           

• T      ,  ,      
   

• T             
  

• T          

• T         

• T              

• T            .

PROCEDURE
H A          
  -    . H A      P
H      '   .

H A  : P  P H       

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 4

72/193



COPY
A S

Step Description Approver Date

A C: CNO P

    . A       / 
(),  ,           P
H. A       . I     
    ' ,       / 
(),           . A  
      .

References
JC S RI.01.01.01 EP 1; RI.02.01.01, EP 1  2 D     ,
,    '         C C 
    C C .

Approval:
B

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/
3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 4

73/193



COPY

Status Pending PolicyStat ID 3996342 

Approved N/A 

Review Due 3 years after 
approval 

Document 
Area 

General - 
Housewide 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC 
RI.01.01.01, 
EP 1, TJC 
RI.02.01.01, 
EP 1, 2 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 
This standard focuses on how the hospital respects the rights of the patient during his or her encounter 
with the hospital. A mere list of rights cannot guarantee the patient’s rights. Respect for the patient’s 
rights put into action through this standard shows support of these rights through the ways that staff 
and caregivers interact with the patient and involve him or her in care, treatment, and service. When 
patients are well informed, participate in decisions, and communicate openly with their doctor and other 
health professionals, it helps to make their care as effective as possible. Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County (MHSC) encourages respect for the personal preferences, values and beliefs of each 
individual. 

TEXT 
I. PATIENT RIGHTS 

A. MHSC respects the rights of patients. These rights include: 

1. To receive treatment, care and services within the capability and mission 
of the Hospital and in compliance with law and regulation, without 
discrimination based on age, race, ethnicity, religion, culture, language, 
physical or mental disability, socioeconomic status, sex, sexual 
orientation, and gender identity or expression. In the event that their needs 
cannot be met, they will be notified and alternatives to care will be 
presented at that time. 

2. To have their cultural, psychosocial, pastoral, spiritual, personal values, 
beliefs, and preferences respected. Refer to Lippincott standard on Spiritual 
Care and the Chaplaincy Program. 

3. To be treated with consideration, respect and the full recognition of their 
personal dignity. 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 10

74/193



COPY

4. The right to receive visitors designated by the patient, including, but not 
limited to, a spouse, a domestic partner (including a same-sex domestic 
partner), another family member, or a friend. Also included is the right to 
withdraw or deny such consent at any time. For further information refer to 
Patients’ Visitation Rights. 

a. The allowance of a support individual or patient advocate will be 
allowed throughout the hospital stay, in accordance with the 
patient’s wishes, unless the individual’s presence infringes on 
others’ rights, safety, or is medically or therapeutically 
contraindicated. 

i. The person may not be, nor does not have to be the 
surrogate decision maker or legally authorized 
representative for the patient. 

ii. The support person or advocate can be any of the 
following: 

• A spouse. 

• A domestic partner including same-sex 
domestic partner. 

• Another family member. 

• A friend. 

• A support person does not have to be the 
representative who is legally responsible for 
making medical decisions on behalf of the 
patient. 

iii. The support person has the same rights to grant or 
deny visitation as the patient. 

iv. Hospital staff will accept the patient’s choice of 
support person either orally or in writing. 

v. Patients who are incapacitated or unable to 
communicate their wishes: and 

• an individual provides an advanced directive 
stating they are the decision maker have the 
right to consent or deny visitation privileges 
the same as a patient would. 

• an individual does not have an advanced 
directive stating decision making capability 
but asserts they are the patient’s support 
person, hospital staff will accept this 
declaration without demanding supporting 
documentation. This person will have the 
same rights of visitation as the patient. 

vi. Should more than one individual claim to be the 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 10

75/193



COPY

patient’s support person, it is appropriate for the 
hospital to ask for supporting documentation to 
support the assertion. 

NOTE: DISCREPANCIES WILL BE RESOLVED 
FOLLOWING THE PROCESS SET FORTH BY Wyoming 
State Statute §35-22-406 Decisions by surrogate. 

vii. Refusal of an individual’s request to be a support 
person must be documented in the medical record 
along with the specific basis for refusal. 

NOTE: AN INCAPACITATED PATIENT IS DEFINED AS 
PER WYOMING STATE STATUTE § 3-1-101 (a) (ix) 
“INCOMPETENT PERSON” MEANS AN INDIVIDUAL 
WHO, FOR REASONS OTHER THAN BEING A MINOR, 
IS UNABLE UNASSISTED TO PROPERLY MANAGE 
AND TAKE CARE OF HIMSELF OR HIS PROPERTY AS 
A RESULT OF THE MEDICAL CONDITIONS OF 
ADVANCED AGE, PHYSICAL DISABILITY, DISEASE, 
THE USE OF ALCOHOL OR CONTROLLED 
SUBSTANCES, MENTAL ILLNESS, MENTAL 
DEFICIENCY OR INTELLECTUAL DISABILITY. NOTE: 
SHOULD A DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE OR 
SUPPORT PERSON NOT CHOOSE TO PARTICIPATE IN 
THE PLAN OF CARE, THIS INFORMATION WILL BE 
DOCUMENTED IN THE EMR. 

II. MHSC provides information on rights to each patient at the time of admission about the 
hospital’s patient rights policy. See form 800426P – Bill of Rights. This right extends to an 
appointed patient advocate who will also be provided the Patients’ Bill of Rights. 

III. Patients and their advocates have the right to access, request amendment to, and receive an 
accounting of disclosures regarding their health information as permitted under applicable 
law. This also extends to the patient advocate. Refer to standard on “Medical Records”. 

IV. MHSC supports and facilitates patient and the patient’s advocate, involvement in decisions 
about care, treatment and services provided: 

A. Patients and advocates have the right to be involved in decisions about their care, 
treatment and services, including the right to have his or her own physician promptly 
notified of his or her admission/care to the hospital. 

B. To have surrogate decision maker, as allowed by law, and will be identified when they 
cannot make decisions about their care, treatment and services. This legally 
responsible representative will approve care, treatment and service decisions on 
their behalf. 

C. The patient’s family, as appropriate and as allowed by law, with their permission or 
the permission of their surrogate decision maker, patient advocate or power of 
attorney, has the right to be involved in care, treatment and service decisions. 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 10

76/193



COPY

D. The hospital provides the patient and advocate with written information about the 
right to refuse care, treatment, and services. 

V. MHSC supports the patient’s right to make informed decisions, to have the patient advocate 
participate with informed decisions, and give or withhold informed consent. Refer to standard 
on Informed Consent for Treatment & Procedures and/or Against Medical Advice/Rejection of 
Treatment. 

VI. MHSC supports the patient’s right to address end-of-life decisions. Refer to standard on Patient 
Healthcare Directives. 

A. Review and revise their advanced directives. If they do not have an advanced 
directive, assistance will be available to formulate one. 

B. The hospital will honor a patient’s advanced directive within the limits of the law and 
the hospital’s capabilities. 

C. The right to change their advance directives at end of life. 

VII. Care and services that accommodate the patient, patient advocate, and their families comfort, 
dignity, psychosocial, emotional, and spiritual/cultural end-of-life needs. 

VIII. The hospital will honor your wishes concerning organ donation within the limits of the law and 
the hospital’s capabilities. 

IX. MHSC respects the patient’s right to and need for effective communication. 

A. Written information provided will be appropriate to patient and/or patient advocate’s 
age, understanding and language. 

B. MHSC provides interpretation, including translation services, as needed. (Refer to 
Standard Patient’s Right to Receive Information) 

C. MHSC provides for those patient and patient advocate with visual, speech, hearing, 
language and cognitive impairments. If Memorial Hospital cannot accommodate the 
needs of the patient, transfer to another facility may be considered. 

X. MHSC supports and facilitates the resolution of complaints from patients and their families. 
Refer to standard on Guest Relations. Patients have the right to: 

A. Freely voice complaints and recommend changes without being subject to coercion, 
discrimination, or unreasonable interruption of care, treatment and services. 

B. Present concerns or comments if they are having problems with the care, treatment 
or services they are receiving. 

NOTE: THE HOSPITAL HAS A DESIGNATED PATIENT RELATIONS 
REPRESENTATIVE THAT THEY MAY CONTACT BY DIALING “0” OR EXTENSION 
8485. THEIR COMMENTS WILL BE REGISTERED AND A MEMBER OF THE 
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF WILL CONTACT THEM WITHIN 5 BUSINESS DAYS. 

C. Present their concerns or comments to the Wyoming Department of Health, 
regardless of whether they use the Hospital grievance process first. 

Wyoming Dept. of Health 
401 Hathaway Building 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 4 of 10

77/193



COPY

Cheyenne, WY 82002 (866)571-0944 
http://www.health.wyo.gov/default.aspx 

D. Express concern regarding quality of care, disagree with a coverage decision, or 
appeal a premature discharge. As a Medicare beneficiary: 

Beneficiary and Family Centered Care - Quality Improvement Organization (BFCC-
QIO) 
KEPRO 
Rock Run Center 
5700 Lombardo Center, Suite 100 
Seven Hills, Ohio 44131 
Telephone: 844-430-9504, or TTY 855-843-4776 

E. File a complaint with the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Healthcare 
Organizations at (800) 994-6610.http://www.jointcommission.org/
report_a_complaint.asp 

XI. MHSC will respect the patient’s right for confidentiality, privacy and security. (Standard 
Administrative Safeguards to Protect the Privacy of Protected health Information, and 
Standard Patient Confidentiality and Privacy) 

NOTE: IF THE PATIENT DOES NOT HAVE A COMPLAINT AND THE PATIENT ADVOCATE DOES, 
THE WISHES OF THE PATIENT WILL TAKE PRECEDENCE. 

XII. The hospital will: 

A. Protect the confidentiality of patient information, 

B. Respect patient privacy: Patients will be afforded an opportunity to meet in private 
with visitors and communicate in person or via phone privately with persons of their 
choice; 

C. Make every effort to provide a safe and secure environment for patients and their 
visitors throughout the patient stay. 

D. Respect the patient’s right to access information contained in their clinical record 
within a reasonable time frame. If the patient consents to have the patient advocate 
receive the same rights regarding his/her clinical record, the hospital will comply 
with these wishes. 

XIII. MHSC will provide patients an environment that preserves their dignity and contributes to a 
positive self-image. 

A. Each room will provide patients with the storage space to meet their personal needs. 

B. Patients have the right to keep and use personal possessions, unless they infringe 
upon the rights of others or are medically or therapeutically contraindicated. 

XIV. MHSC supports the patient’s right to be free from mental, physical, sexual and verbal abuse. 

A. The hospital will, to the best of its ability, protect patients from real or perceived 
abuse, neglect, or exploitation from anyone, including staff, students, volunteers, 
other patients, visitors or family members. 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 5 of 10

78/193



COPY

B. Patients shall be free from unnecessary restraint, interference, coercion, 
discrimination or threat of reprisal by the hospital. 

C. Patients have the right to the proper and safe use of restraints in acute clinical 
situations. 

D. Patients have the right to the proper and safe use of seclusion and restraints in 
behavioral management. 

E. All allegations, observations, or suspected cases of abuse, neglect, or exploitation 
that occur in the hospital will be investigate 

XV. Patients have the right to have their pain managed. MHSC plans, supports and coordinates 
activities and resources to ensure that pain is recognized and addressed appropriately in 
accordance with the care, treatment and services provided, including: 

A. Pain assessment. 

B. Education of all relevant providers regarding pain assessment and management. 

C. Education for patient and family members when appropriate, about patient roles in 
managing pain and the potential limitations and side effects of pain treatments. 

XVI. Patients have the right to access protective and advocacy services. 

XVII. Patients have the right to know if this hospital has relationships with outside parties that may 
influence their treatment and care. These relationships may include educational institutions, 
insurers or other healthcare providers. 

XVIII. When certain conditions are met, all persons have the right to a medical screening 
examination and to treatment necessary to stabilize an emergency medical condition within 
the capacity and capability of MHSC regardless of insurance status or ability to pay. 

• PATIENT RESPONSIBILITIES 

I. Patients have the following responsibility: 

A. Providing information about their health, including past illnesses, hospital 
stays, and use of medicine. 

B. Asking questions when they do not understand information or 
instructions. 

C. To report perceived risks in their care and unexpected changes in their 
condition. 

D. To provide the hospital information about service needs and expectations. 

E. For informing their physician and other care-givers if they anticipate 
problems in following prescribed treatment or if they refuse any medical 
procedure or treatment. The hospital will make every effort to adapt the 
plan to their specific needs and limitations. 

F. For providing their healthcare provider information about any pain they 
experience as it begins and as it changes. They are also responsible for 
working with their healthcare providers to develop and implement a pain 
management plan. 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 6 of 10

79/193



COPY

G. For the outcomes if they do not follow the care, treatment and service 
plan. 

H. To follow the hospital’s rules and regulations. 

I. Being considerate of the needs of other patients, staff, and the hospital 
facilities. 

J. For providing insurance information and for working with the hospital to 
make payment arrangements, when necessary. 

K. To let the nurse and their family know if they feel they are receiving too 
many outside visitors. 

L. For assisting the hospital staff in facilitating a safe environment. Patient 
safety concerns should be communicated with the hospital Safety Officer. 

M. To provide a copy, if they have a written Advance Directive, to the hospital, 
their family, and their doctor. 

II. A patient's health depends not just on the hospital’s care but, in the long term on the 
decisions the patient and their families make in their daily life. They are responsible 
for recognizing the effect of life-style on their personal health. 

REFERENCES 
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Conditions of Participation. Retrieved from: cms.gov. 

The Joint Commission. (2014). 2014 Hospital Accreditation Standards: RI.01.01.01 EP all. Departments 
of Publications and Education Joint Commission Resources. Oakbrook Terrace: IL. 

Wyoming State Statutes §3-1-101 (a) (ix) and §35-22-406 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY (MHSC) provides all patients and their legal 
representative(s), when applicable, with information about the rights and responsibilities of the patient, 
consistent with applicable state laws. This document educates patients about their rights and 
responsibilities in relation to their health care, treatment, and services received at MHSC. 

TEXT 
PATIENT RIGHTS 
All patients receiving care, treatment and services from MHSC and its clinics have the following rights: 

• To be informed of visitation rights, including: 

◦ Right to receive visitors, according to the patients' wishes and consent 

◦ Right to withdraw or deny consent for visitors 

• To be treated with dignity and respect 

• To effective communication 

• To have cultural and personal values, beliefs, and preferences respected 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 7 of 10

80/193



COPY

• To personal privacy and privacy of health information 

• To pain management 

• To religious or other spiritual services 

• To access, request amendments to, and obtain information on disclosure of health information 

• To have a family member, a friend, or another individual present for emotional support during 
the patient's stay 

• To be free from discrimination based on age, race, ethnicity, religion, culture, language, 
physical or mental disability, socioeconomic status, sex, sexual orientation, and gender identity 
or expression 

• To receive information in a manner that is understandable and tailored to the patient's age, 
language and ability to understand 

• To receive information in a manner that meets the patient's needs when they are impaired by 
vision, speech, hearing or cognitive impairments 

• To be involved in making decisions about care, treatment and services 

• To have patient's physician promptly notified of the patients hospital admission 

• To refuse care, treatment, and services and to receive information about this in writing 

• To have a surrogate decision maker if the patient is unable to make decisions on their own. 
The surrogate decision maker has the right to refuse care, treatment and services on the 
patient's behalf. 

• To have family involved in decision making about care, treatment and services 

• To receive information about the outcomes of the patient's care, treatment, and services that is 
needed to participate in current and future health care decisions 

• To be informed about anticipated outcomes of care, treatment and services that relate to 
sentinel events 

• To give or withhold informed consent 

• To give or withhold informed consent to produce or use recordings, films, or other images for 
purposes other than the patient's care 

• To receive information about the individual(s) responsible for and providing the patient's care, 
treatment, and services 

• To be free from neglect, exploitation, and verbal, mental, physical and sexual abuse 

• To have an environment that preserves dignity and contributes to positive self-image 

• To have complaints reviewed by the hospital without being subject to coercion, discrimination, 
reprisal, or unreasonable interruption of care 

• To access protective and advocacy services 

• To discuss with a physician any ethical issues that arise during the course of care 

• To request access to MHSC's Ethics (or similar committee) Committee 

• To receive information about advance directives 

• To have advance directives respected and followed 

• To have issues addressing autopsy and organ donation conducted in a sensitive manner 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 8 of 10

81/193



COPY

• To request and receive pastoral counseling 

• To request and expect the hospital to arrange for the prompt and orderly transfer of the 
patients care to others when the hospital cannot meet the patient's request or needs for care, 
treatment, and services. 

PATIENT RESPONSIBILITIES 
All patients receiving care, treatment, and services from MHSC and its clinics have the following 
responsibilities: 

• To provide information that facilitates patient care, treatment, and services 

• To ask questions or acknowledge when the patient does not understand the treatment course 
or care decisions 

• To follow instructions, policies, rules, and regulations that support quality care and a safe 
environment 

• To be considerate and respectful when interacting with staff members 

• To not be verbally, physically or mentally abusive to staff members 

• To maintain civil language and conduct 

• To meet financial commitments to MHSC 

• To provide accurate and complete information about health-related matters 

• To take an active role in making decisions about care, treatment, and services by doing the 
following: 

◦ Discussing condition and treatment with the medical care provider 

◦ Reporting any changes in condition 

◦ Providing advance directive and/or expressing wishes regarding use of life support 

• To cooperate with hospital staff who provide care 

• To ask questions if plans or direction or care are not clearly understood 

• To follow and respect the hospital's rules and regulations about patient care and conduct 

• To be considerate of the rights of other patients and staff members 

• To follow guidelines about use of cameras, phone cameras, and other recording devices in all 
areas of the hospital 

• To accept responsibility for actions if treatment is refused or provider instructions are not 
followed by patient 

• To provide the hospital with complete information to process insurance claims 

• To arrange to pay bills within an acceptable time period 

• To be responsible for belongings and not bring unnecessary items or valuables to the hospital 

• To inform staff members of all information that may affect care and safety. 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 9 of 10

82/193



COPY
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Ann Clevenger: CNO Pending 

PROCEDURE 
Hospital Administration will ensure that signage explaining patient rights and responsibilities is 
displayed in all-access areas of the hospital. Hospital Administration will also ensure that the Patient 
Handbook includes an explanation of the patient's rights and responsibilities. 

Hospital Admissions staff will: Provide the Patient Handbook to all inpatients on admission and all 
outpatients on admission and registration. Admissions staff will also encourage the patient and/or legal 
representative(s), as appropriate, to read the patient rights and responsibilities section of the Patient 
Handbook. Answer any questions about patient rights and responsibilities. If the question is beyond the 
scope of the admissions staff's knowledge, the admission staff refers the patient and/or legal 
representative(s), to another individual in the hospital who can provide an answer. Admissions staff will 
document that the patient received the information. 

References 
JC Standard RI.01.01.01 EP 1; RI.02.01.01, EP 1 and 2 Did not include statements regarding trials, 
investigations, research as this doesn't apply to hospital and any trials performed at Cancer Center are 
consented and explained by Cancer Center staff. 

Approval: 
Board 

Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/

3996342/. Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 10 of 10

83/193



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:12/6/2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
New Business  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☐ Revision 

 ☒ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
Weapons policy requested by Board from Geoff Phillips.    

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approved by HR Committee in November  
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☒ For Review Only 

 ☐ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 

 ☒ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Senior leadership recommends approval of this policy.   

84/193



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 14663737 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Administration 

WEAPONS POLICY 

 WEAPONS POLICY 
Policy Prohibiting Weapons at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County ("MHSC" or the "Hospital"). 

I. Statement of Purpose 
The purpose of this policy is to reduce the potential risk of injury and/or property damage at 
the Hospital. This policy is in place to mutually respect the rights of citizens who lawfully carry 
a Weapon and to provide safety for patients, MHSC staff and the public. 
MHSC is committed to providing a safe and secure environment for the entire MHSC 
community. These restrictions on the ability to carry Weapons, concealed or otherwise, on 
MHSC Property (as defined below) have been developed and will be implemented to best 
provide for a safe and secure environment. 

II. Persons Covered by this Policy 
This Policy applies to all parties on MHSC Property; however, this Policy specifically excludes 
MHSC personnel specifically designated for security and/or law enforcement functions as set 
forth below in Paragraph IV(B) of this Policy. 

III. Definitions 
MHSC Campus 
"MHSC Campus" includes all the land and improvements controlled by MHSC, whether owned, 
leased, or licensed. MHSC Campus also includes any location that comes under the control of 
MHSC, whether owned, leased, or licensed. 
Firearm 
"Firearm" means a loaded or unloaded device, by whatever name known, which is designed to 
expel a projectile or projectiles by the action of an explosion, expansion of gas, or escape of 
gas. This includes air-powered devices as well as those using gunpowder. 
MHSC Property 
"MHSC Property" or "Property of MHSC" includes any building or improvement, including, 
without limitation, offices and storage facilities, classroom, laboratory, medical clinic, hospital, 
including, without limitation, research venue, whether owned, leased or operated by MHSC; any 
real property, including parking areas, sidewalks and common areas under the control of 

WEAPONS POLICY. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14663737/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 5

85/193



DRAFT

MHSC; and any vehicles of any kind owned, leased or controlled by MHSC. 
Weapon 
"Weapon" means any device designed to produce serious injury or death, or to intimidate, 
threaten, or endanger an individual, or any replica that a reasonable person might believe 
capable of producing serious injury or death. Weapons include, but are not limited to, Firearms 
(as defined herein), Ammunition (as defined herein), stun guns, dart guns, dangerous 
chemicals, any explosive devices (including hand grenades, bombs, black powder, smokeless 
powder, percussion caps, friction primers, and pyrotechnic fuses), knives with blades longer 
than those of a 4" folding pocket knife, switchblades, daggers, swords, striking instruments 
(including clubs, truncheons, blackjacks, and metal knuckles), martial arts weapons (including 
nunchakus, tonfas, staffs and 
throwing stars), bow and arrow combinations, and paintball guns. The definition of "Weapon," 
is to be broadly construed. 
Ammunition 
"Ammunition" means ammunition or cartridge cases, primers, bullets, or propellent powder 
designed for use in any Firearm. 

IV. Prohibited Activities and Other Restrictions 

A. Weapons. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, MHSC maintains a Weapon free campus. This 
means that no person covered by this Policy, unless authorized by law or specifically 
exempted by federal or state law or this Policy, is authorized to possess a Weapon 
while on MHSC Property or engaged in MHSC‐related business or activities or 
otherwise present in, on or about the MHSC Property located on the MHSC Campus. 
Without limiting the foregoing, MHSC expressly prohibits: (i) any person covered by 
this Policy from possessing a Weapon while in, on or about the MHSC Property 
located on the MHSC Campus; and (ii) any person covered by this Policy from 
displaying, brandishing, discharging or otherwise using any and all Weapons, 
including concealed Weapons, while in, on or about the MHSC Property located on 
the MHSC Campus. 

B. Exceptions. 
The provisions of this Policy do not apply to the possession of Weapons while in, on 
or about the MHSC Property located on the MHSC Campus to the extent that the 
possession of Weapons is directly related to one of the exceptions set forth below, 
which exceptions are intended, consistent with applicable law, to be narrowly 
construed and applied: 

i. The Weapon is carried, concealed or otherwise, by (a) an employee of 
MHSC who is required to carry a Weapon as a condition of his or her 
employment; or (b) a law enforcement officer from an external law 
enforcement agency conducting official business on the MHSC Campus. 

ii. MHSC's Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"), or the CEO's designee, in his or her 
discretion, may grant a comparable exception to paragraph (i) above to an 
individual who has requested permission to carry, concealed or otherwise, 
a Weapon when circumstances indicate such an exception is reasonably 
justified and its granting will not pose an unreasonable risk to health and 
safety (hereinafter referred to as a "Case‐By‐Case Exception"). A 
Case‐By‐Case Exception may be approved with such restrictions as 

WEAPONS POLICY. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14663737/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 5

86/193



DRAFT

deemed appropriate, including, but not limited to, the nature and number of 
Weapons authorized, the Property of MHSC and/or MHSC Campus in, on 
or about which the Weapons may be carried or the time the Case‐By‐Case 
Exception will remain in effect. An individual seeking a Case‐ By‐Case 
Exception must submit his or her request in writing, and the request, at a 
minimum, must contain the individual's full name, address, and 
relationship to MHSC, a description of the Weapon[s] desired to be carried, 
a statement explaining the basis for the request. The Chief Executive 
Officer of MHSC, or the CEO's designee, may request any additional 
information he or she deems necessary or appropriate to evaluate the 
request. Anyone granted a Case‐By‐Case Exception will receive a letter so 
indicating from the MHSC Chief 
Executive Officer, which he or she must carry within him or her while in, on, 
or about the MHSC Property on the MHSC Campus. MHSC shall maintain 
a list of all Case‐By‐Case Exceptions granted and reserves the right to 
terminate any such grants of exemption at any time for any reason. 

C. Public Right of Ways 
An individual carrying a concealed Weapon shall not be deemed to be in violation of 
this Policy while he or she is traveling along a public right of way that touches or 
crosses the MHSC Campus if the concealed Weapon is being carried in accordance 
with the applicable Wyoming or Federal law. 

V. Signage 
MHSC administration shall determine the content and exact placement of posted signs 
indicating that concealed and open carry Firearms and/or Weapons are prohibited. 

VI. Enforcement 
Any individual, including those visiting or conducting business on the MHSC Campus, found to 
have carried a Weapon in, on or about the Property of MHSC located on the MHSC Campus, 
knowingly, or found to be carrying a Weapon under circumstances in which the individual 
should have known that he or she was in possession of a Weapon, may be removed from and/
or banned from the MHSC Campus for such time and extent as MHSC determines appropriate. 
Any employee found to have carried a Weapon in, on or about the Property of MHSC located 
on the MHSC Campus knowingly, or found to be carrying a Weapon under circumstances in 
which the employee should have known that he or she was in possession of a Weapon, may, in 
accordance with applicable MHSC policies, be subject to discipline up to and including, but not 
limited to, immediate termination of employment. If employee is employed by an independent 
contractor, MHSC will consult with and coordinate the disciplinary outcome in conjunction with 
the employer/independent contractor. 
In addition to any other action, violations of this Policy may result in referrals to external law 
enforcement agencies at the discretion of MHSC staff and visitors. 

VII. Procedure 

A. When an individual is in possession of a Weapon on MHSC property, MHSC security 
personnel shall be immediately notified. MHSC security will instruct the individual in 
possession of the Weapon to remove the Weapon from MHSC Property. 

B. If an individual in possession of a Weapon refuses to surrender the Weapon or 
remove the Weapon from MHSC Property, MHSC security will request that the 

WEAPONS POLICY. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14663737/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 5

87/193



DRAFT

individual leave MHSC Property immediately. If the individual refuses to leave MHSC 
property, local law enforcement shall be immediately contacted to remove the 
individual. 

C. If an individual in possession of a Weapon on MHSC Property is physically or 
mentally unable to remove the Weapon from MHSC property or has no means of 
transportation to remove the Weapon from MHSC Property, MHSC security will 
temporarily store the Weapon in the MHSC safe or another secure location in 
accordance with the following policies and procedures: 

1. Prior to temporarily storing a Weapon in the MHSC safe, the owner shall sign a Release, Waiver 
and Indemnity Agreement unless the owner of the Weapon is mentally or physically unable to 
sign the Release, Waiver and Indemnity Agreement. 

2. MHSC staff shall attach a label/tag to the Weapon indicating the owner's name, address, 
telephone number, date and time of day. MHSC shall also attach a copy of a government 
issued photo ID to the owner's Weapon and a photograph of the Weapon taken by MHSC staff. 

3. All Firearms temporarily stored in the MHSC safe must be unloaded. MHSC will store 
Ammunition in a separate secure location as determined by MHSC security personnel. 

4. Before any Weapon is returned to the owner, the owner must verify his or her identity to MHSC 
security with a government issued photo ID that matches the copy of the government issued 
photo ID attached to the Weapon. 
Notwithstanding anything contained in this policy, MHSC security is authorized to temporarily 
store Weapons if requested by law enforcement. 

5. MHSC has neither intended nor designed its premises to be used as a storage facility for 
Weapons. MHSC does not make any warranty or representation of any kind regarding the 
storage containers or the security of the temporarily stored Weapons. MHSC will have no 
responsibility for the safekeeping of Weapons and such storage does not create any type of 
bailment or related obligations on the part of MHSC. Weapon owners assume full 
responsibility for, and risk of, property damage while Weapons are temporarily stored in the 
MHSC safe or at an MHSC secured location. 

6. MHSC's insurance will not insure Weapons temporarily stored in the MHSC safe against 
damage, theft, casualty, or loss of any kind. It is the sole responsibility of Weapon owners to 
obtain insurance for Weapons temporarily stored in the MHSC safe. 

7. Weapons temporarily stored in the MHSC safe or a secure location shall be considered to be 
abandoned if the stored Weapon remains in the MHSC safe more than fifteen (15) days past 
the initial storage date indicated on the label/tag attached to the Weapon. MHSC may, after 
making reasonable efforts to notify the owner in writing of the abandoned Weapon (but no 
earlier than fifteen (15) days thereafter), at its sole discretion, turn the Weapon over to local 
law enforcement. 

8. MHSC reserves the right to refuse the temporary storage of any Weapon if, in the sole 
discretion of MHSC staff, it is determined that the temporary storage of the Weapon exposes 
MHSC to the potential risk of injury and/or property damage. 

WEAPONS POLICY. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14663737/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 4 of 5

88/193



DRAFT

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

WEAPONS POLICY. Retrieved 11/2023. Official copy at http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/14663737/.

Copyright © 2023 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 5 of 5

89/193



 

WEAPONS STORAGE 

Release, Waiver and Indemnity Agreement 

I, the undersigned, am at least eighteen years of age. I hereby acknowledge that 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (the “Hospital” or “MHSC”) is extending a 

special privilege in allowing me to store weapons and/or ammunition (collectively, 

“Weapons” as defined in the MHSC Weapons Policy) and on the Hospital’s premises while 

during the dates provided below. In consideration of the privilege to store the Weapons at 

the Hospital, I, for myself and any personal representative, heirs, and next of kin, hereby 

agree to the following:  

 

1. ACKNOWLEDGMENT.  By my signature below, I acknowledge that I have 

read, understand, and agree to the MHSC Weapons Policy. 

 

2. ACCEPTANCE OF RISK. I understand that MHSC has neither intended nor 

designed its premises to be used as a storage facility for Weapons.  MHSC does 

not make any warranty or representation of any kind regarding the safe, storage 

containers or the security of the temporarily stored Weapons.  MHSC will have 

no responsibility for the safekeeping of Weapons and such storage does not 

create any type of bailment or related obligations on the part of MHSC. I assume 

full responsibility for, and risk of, property damage while Weapons are 

temporarily stored in the MHSC safe or at an MHSC secured location.    

 

3. INSURANCE.  I acknowledge that MHSC’s insurance will not insure Weapons 

temporarily stored in the MHSC safe against damage, theft, casualty, or loss of 

any kind.  I further understand and acknowledge that it is entirely my 

responsibility to obtain insurance for Weapons that are in storage at the 

Hospital. 

 

4. RELEASE.  I agree to and do hereby release, acquit, forever discharge, and 

covenant not to sue Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, its Board of 

Trustees, directors, officers, employees, trustees, and agents (collectively, 

“Releasees”) from any and all liability to me, my personal representative, heirs, 

and next of kin for any loss, theft, damage, destruction, claim, demands, costs, 

and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) in connection with my 

storage of Weapons at the Hospital. I understand and hereby acknowledge that 

if the Weapons are damaged, lost, stolen, or destroyed for any reason or by any 

cause, including but not limited to acts of God, nature, weather, fire, theft, or 

otherwise, my only recourse will be any insurance that I have secured. 

 

90/193



5. INDEMNIFICATION. I agree to indemnify and hold harmless MHSC and 

Releasees from any loss, liability, theft, damage, or cost that may be incurred 

(including damage the Weapons may cause to third-party property) due to my 

storage of the Weapons at the Hospital. 

 

6. LAW AND POLICIES. I agree to abide by all applicable laws and MHSC 

policies in connection with my storage of the Weapons at the Hospital.  

 

7. SAFE STORAGE.  I understand and agree that all Firearms temporarily stored 

in the MHSC safe must be unloaded.  MHSC will store Ammunition in a 

separate secure location as determined by MHSC security personnel. 

 

8. LABEL/TAG.  I understand, hereby acknowledge and consent to the following: 

MHSC staff shall attach a label/tag to the Weapon indicating my name, address, 

telephone number, date and time of day.  MHSC shall also attach a copy of a 

government issued photo ID to my Weapon and a photograph of the Weapon 

taken by MHSC staff. 

 

9. ABANDONED WEAPONS.  I agree that Weapons temporarily stored in the 

MHSC safe or a secure location shall be considered to be abandoned if the 

stored Weapon remains in the MHSC safe more than fifteen (15) days past the 

initial storage date indicated on the label/tag attached to the Weapon.  MHSC 

may, after making reasonable efforts to notify the owner in writing of the 

abandoned Weapon (but no earlier than fifteen (15) days thereafter), at its sole 

discretion, turn the Weapon over to local law enforcement. 

 

10. RIGHT TO REFUSE.  I agree that MHSC reserves the right to refuse the 

temporary storage of any Weapon if, in the sole discretion of MHSC staff, it is 

determined that the temporary storage of the Weapon exposes MHSC to the 

potential risk of injury and/or property damage. 

 

11. CONTACT PERSON. I agree to provide a contact person and a phone number 

in my absence so that, in the event of an emergency, the contact person will be 

responsible for the Weapons. 

 

12. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY: MHSC and the MHSC Board of Trustees do not 

waive sovereign or governmental immunity by entering into this Agreement, 

and specifically retain immunity and all defenses available to them as 

sovereigns pursuant to Wyo. Stat. §1-39-104(a) and all other state and federal 

law. 

 

I further expressly agree that this Release, Waiver, and Indemnity Agreement is intended 

to be as broad and inclusive as permitted by the law, and if any portion hereof is held invalid, it is 

agreed that the balance shall, notwithstanding, continue in full legal force and effect. In the event 

91/193



of any cause of action, the laws of the State of Wyoming apply, and the jurisdiction lies with the 

state or federal courts of Wyoming. 

 

Full Name (printed): ________________________________  

Driver’s License or other ID#: _______________  

Date of Birth: ___________________________  

Contact Person:__________________________ 

Address (Street/City/State/Zip Code): 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

E-mail: ____________________________ Phone: _____________________________  

Storage Dates:____________________  To ____________________. 

 

 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 1200 COLLEGE DRIVE, ROCK SPRINGS, 

WYOMING 82901 

(307) 362-3711  FAX (307) __________ 

  

An Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution  sweetwatermemorial.com  

 

92/193



 
 

                     ORIENTATION MEMO 
 

 
 

Board Meeting Date:12/6/2023  
 
Topic for Old & New Business Items: 
Orthopedic Privileges (revised) 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

 ☒ Revision 

 ☐ New 
 
Brief Senior Leadership Comments: 
This privilege form was revised to include privileges for the new Mako robot.  Dr. 
Pedri is planning to start doing robotic surgery on the 7th or 8th of December. So, if 
at all possible, can the Board consider approving this form at the meeting on 
December 6th? This form has been approved by the Surgery Department Chair, 
Credentials Committee, and MEC.  

 

 Board Committee Action: 

Approval Needed 
 
Policy or Other Document: 

     ☐ For Review Only 

 ☒ For Board Action 
 
Legal Counsel Review: 

 ☒ In House Comments:Reviewed and approved at Credentials 
Committee.  

 ☐ Board  Comments:Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Senior Leadership Recommendation: 
Recommend approval at the December meeting.  

93/193



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 1 

 

Orthopedic Privileges 

Rev: 11/2023 

Delineation of Privileges 

ORTHOPEDIC PRIVILEGES 

 

 Initial appointment    Reappointment    Modification of Privileges 

Applicant 

Check the “Requested” box for each privilege requested. Applicants have the burden of producing information deemed adequate by 

the hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, current clinical activity, and other qualifications and for resolving any 

doubts related to qualifications for requested privileges. 

To be eligible to request privileges in Orthopedics, a practitioner must meet the following minimum threshold criteria: 

 

LICENSURE / 

PROFESSIONAL 

LIABILITY 

INSURANCE 

MD or DO 

Licensed to practice medicine in the State of Wyoming 

Current Wyoming designated DEA Registration and current Wyoming Controlled Substance Registration 

Proof of Professional Liability Insurance in the amounts of at least: Per Claim: $1,000,000.00 Aggregate: 

$3,000,000.00. 

EDUCATION / 

TRAINING 

Completion of an approved residency in Orthopedic Surgery by the Accreditation Council for Graduate 

Medical Education (ACGME) or American Osteopathic Association (AOA).  

CERTIFICATION Certification by the applicable Orthopedic specialty board for any clinical privileges for which applicant 

has applied, or be eligible for certification by such board.  Once physician is board certified, 

Maintenance of Board Certification is required.  

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(INITIAL) 

Applicants for initial appointment must be able to demonstrate the performance of at least 100 orthopedic 

procedures during the last 12 months or demonstrate successful completion of a hospital-affiliated 

accredited residency, special clinical fellowship, or research. 

Applicants for initial appointment may be requested to provide documentation of the number and types 

of hospital cases during the past 24 months.  Applicants have the burden of producing information 

deemed adequate by the Hospital for a proper evaluation of current competence, and other qualifications, 

and for resolving any doubts. 

CLINICAL 

EXPERIENCE 

(REAPPOINTMENT) 

To be eligible to renew core privileges in orthopedic surgery, the applicant must meet the following 

Maintenance of Privilege criteria: Current demonstrated competence and an adequate volume of 

experience with acceptable results in the privileges requested for the past 24 months based on results of 

quality assessment/improvement activities and outcomes.  Evidence of current ability to perform 

privileges requested is required of all applicants for renewal of privileges. 

FPPE FPPE criteria will be assigned by the Department Chair during the approval process. 

OTHER 

REQUIREMENTS 
 Note that privileges granted may only be exercised at the site(s) and setting(s) that have the 

appropriate equipment, license, beds, staff, and other support required to provide the services 

defined in this document. Site-specific services may be defined in hospital or department policy. 

 This document is focused on defining qualifications related to competency to exercise clinical 

privileges. The applicant must also adhere to any additional organizational, regulatory, or 

accreditation requirements that the organization is obligated to meet.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

94/193



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 2 

 

Orthopedic Privileges 

Rev: 11/2023 

Requested PATIENT POPULATION AND SETTING Board 

Approval 

 PATIENT POPULATION  

☐ Newborns/Infants (birth to 1 year) ☐ 

☐ Pediatric (age 2 to 21 years) ☐ 

☐ Adult (18 years or older) ☐ 

☐ Geriatric (65 and older) ☐ 

 SETTING  

☐ Outpatient ☐ 

☐ Inpatient  ☐ 

ORTHOPEDIC SURGERY CORE PRIVILEGES - This is not intended to be an all-encompassing procedures list.  It defines 

the types of activities/procedures/ privileges that the majority of practitioners in this specialty perform at this organization and 

inherent activities/ procedures/privileges requiring similar skill sets and techniques.  

 
Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Admit, evaluate, diagnose, treat and provide consultation to patients of all ages in the inpatient 

or outpatient setting.  Privileges include the ability to correct or treat various conditions, 

illnesses and injuries of the extremities and associated structures by medical, surgical, and 

physical means including but not limited to congenital deformities, trauma, infections, tumors, 

metabolic disturbances of the musculoskeletal system, deformities, injuries, and degenerative 

diseases of the hands, feet, knee, hip, shoulder, and elbow including primary and secondary 

muscular problems and the effects of central or peripheral nervous system lesions of the 

musculoskeletal system, as well as closed treatment of the spine. Physicians may provide care 

to patients in the intensive care setting in conformance with unit policies.  Assess, stabilize, and 

determine the disposition of patients with emergent conditions consistent with medical staff 

policy regarding emergency and consultative call services.  

☐ 

☐ Consultation includes: conduct history and assessment for the purpose of making 

recommendations related to care and treatment 
☐ 

☐ Amputation surgery including immediate prosthetic fitting in the operating room ☐ 

☐ Arthrocentesis, diagnostic ☐ 

☐ Arthrodesis, osteotomy and ligament reconstruction of the major peripheral joints, excluding 

total replacement of joint 
☐ 

☐ Arthrography ☐ 

☐ Arthroplasty of large and small joints, wrist, or hand, including implants ☐ 

☐ Arthroscopic surgery ☐ 

☐ Biopsy and excision of tumors involving bone and adjacent soft tissues ☐ 

☐ Bone grafts and allografts ☐ 

☐ Bone graft pertaining to the hand ☐ 

☐ Carpal tunnel decompression ☐ 

☐ C-Arm assisted surgery – plain film ☐ 

☐ Closed reduction of fractures and dislocations of the skeleton ☐ 

☐ Debridement of soft tissue ☐ 

☐ Delayed and non-unions or long bone fractures with or without internal fixation and bone 

grafting 
☐ 

☐ Excision of soft tissue/bony masses ☐ 

☐ Fasciotomy and fasciectomy ☐ 

☐ Fracture fixation ☐ 

95/193



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 3 

 

Orthopedic Privileges 

Rev: 11/2023 

☐ Growth disturbances such as injuries involving growth plates with a high percentage of 

growth arrest, growth inequality, epiphysiodesis, stapling, bone shortening or lengthening 

procedures 

☐ 

☐ Hand and foot surgery including flexor, extensor tendon repair, ligament reconstruction and 

tendon transfer  
☐ 

☐ Ilizorov external fixation device ☐ 

☐ Laceration repair ☐ 

☐ Ligament reconstruction ☐ 

☐ Local anesthesia to include hematoma block, Bier block, axillary block  ☐ 

☐ Local skin flaps ☐ 

☐ Major arthroplasty, including total replacement of knee joint, hip joint, shoulder ☐ 

☐ Management of infections and inflammations of bones, joints, and tendon sheaths ☐ 

☐ Muscle and tendon repair, excluding hand ☐ 

☐ Neurorrhaphy ☐ 

☐ Open and closed reduction of fractures ☐ 

☐ Open reduction and internal/external fixation of fractures and dislocations of the skeleton ☐ 

☐ Performance of history and physical exam ☐ 

☐ Provide technical assistance in the operating room as a surgical assistant ☐ 

☐ Reconstructive joint and ligamentous reconstructive joint surgery to upper and lower 

extremities including total joints, joint arthroscopy, reconstruction, and endoscopy 
☐ 

☐ Removal of soft tissue mass, ganglion palm or wrist, flexor sheath, etc. ☐ 

☐ Skin and bone grafts ☐ 

☐ Skin lacerations ☐ 

☐ Skin Tumors ☐ 

☐ Split thickness grafts ☐ 

☐ Tendon reconstruction (free graft, staged) ☐ 

☐ Tendon release, repair and fixation ☐ 

☐ Tendon transfers ☐ 

☐ Treatment of infections ☐ 

☐ Total arthroplasty requiring large bone graft, either autograft or allograft ☐ 

☐ Total joint replacement revision ☐ 

☐ Total joint surgery ☐ 

☐ Treatment of trauma ☐ 

☐ Wolff grafts ☐ 

☐ Zyplasty ☐ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

96/193



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 4 

 

Orthopedic Privileges 

Rev: 11/2023 

SPECIAL NON-CORE PRIVILEGES  

If desired, noncore privileges are requested individually in addition to requesting the core. Each individual requesting 

noncore privileges must meet the specific threshold criteria governing the exercise of the privilege requested including 

training, required previous experience, and maintenance of clinical competence. To be eligible to apply for the special 

non-core privileges listed below, the applicant must demonstrate successful completion of an approved, recognized course 

when such exists, or acceptable supervised training in residency, fellowship or other acceptable experience, and provide 

documentation of competence in performing the requested procedure consistent with criteria set forth in medical staff 

policies governing the exercise of specific privileges. 

Requested CHECK ALL PRIVILEGES/PROCEDURES YOU ARE REQUESTING Approved 

☐ Brace treatment for congenital hip ☐ 

☐ Complex pelvic and acetabular fractures ☐ 

☐ Definitive oncologic resection requiring adjuvant therapy for primary musculoskeletal 

tumors  
☐ 

☐ Initial casting for club feet ☐ 

☐ Major cancer procedures involving major proximal amputation (i.e., forequarter, 

hindquarter) or extensive segmental tumor resections 
☐ 

☐ Microscope: Use of the microscope for small vessel and nerve anastomosis and spinal 

surgery 
☐ 

☐ Nerve graft ☐ 

☐ Open reduction for congenital hip dislocation, femoral or acetabular reconstructions for congenital hip 

dislocation, slipped femoral capital epiphysis or leg Perthes Disease 
☐ 

☐ Operative treatment of club feet  ☐ 

☐ Pedicle grafts ☐ 

☐ Reconstruction of non-spinal congenital musculoskeletal anomalies ☐ 

☐ Rotational flaps ☐ 

☐ Unstable spine fractures ☐ 

☐ Use of Laser  
Initial Privileges: Successful completion of an approved residency in a specialty or sub-specialty that 

included training in laser principles or completion of an approved 8-10 hour minimum continuing 

medical education (CME) course that included training in laser principles. In addition, an applicant for 

privileges should spend time after the basic training course in a clinical setting with an experienced 

operator who has been granted laser privileges acting as a preceptor. Practitioner agrees to limit 

practice to only the specific laser types for which he/she has provided documentation of training and 

experience. AND 

Required Current Experience: Demonstrated current competence and evidence of the performance 

of at least 5 procedures in the past 12 months or completion of training in the past 12 months. 

Renewal of privilege: Demonstrated current competence and evidence of the performance of at least 

5 procedures in the past 24 months based on results of ongoing professional practice evaluation and 

outcomes. 

☐ 

☐ Orthotripsy  
Initial Privileges: Successful completion of an ACGME OR AOA accredited residency training 

program in orthopedic surgery or CPME accredited training program in podiatric surgery.  Applicants 

must have also completed an orthotripsy course that included shock wave machine training and 

observed cases.   

AND 

Required Current Experience: Applicants must be able to demonstrate that they have performed at 

least 5 orthotripsy procedures in the past 12 months.   

Renewal of Privilege: Applicant must be able to show maintenance of competence with evidence of 

the performance of at least 5 orthotripsy procedures in the past 24 months. 

☐ 

97/193



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 5 

 

Orthopedic Privileges 

Rev: 11/2023 

 

☐ Mako Robotic Assisted Knee/Hip Replacement Surgery 
Successful completion of an ACGME OR AOA accredited residency training program in orthopedic 

surgery with documented robotics training.   

AND 

Required Current Experience: Applicants must be able to demonstrate that they have performed at 

least 5 robotic procedures in the past 12 months.   

Renewal of Privilege: Applicant must be able to show maintenance of competence with evidence of 

the performance of at least 10 robotic procedures in the past 24 months. 

 

In the absence of formal training in a Residency or Fellowship:  

 Surgeons requesting robotic privileges must be certified by Stryker at a proctored certification lab 

for each application, hosted and executed by Stryker, prior to utilizing the robot for MAKO 

procedures, and must provide certificate of training or a letter from the course director.  

Surgeons with prior robotic experience and current robotic privileges at another facility must 

submit documentation of a minimum of five (5) robotic cases within the last twelve (12) months at a 

similarly accredited facility. 

Renewal of Privileges:  

Applicant must be able to show maintenance of competence with evidence of the performance of at 

least 10 robotic-assisted procedures in the past 24 months based on results of OPPE and outcomes.  

 Applicant must submit documentation of at least twelve (10) robotic-assisted laparoscopic 

procedures in the past 24 months, either at MHSC or another facility. 

 Low volume specialty procedures, which are performed less than five (5) times in 12 months, 

will be reviewed by the Department Chair on a case-by-case basis and recommendations made to 

the Credentials Committee prior to approval. 

 All robotic-assisted cases are subject to peer review. 
NOTE: Applicant must be currently privileged to perform the procedure using non-robotic techniques.  

The applies to every procedure for which the applicant is requesting robotic privileges, both for initial 

appointment and renewal of privileges. 

☐ 

 Administration of Sedation and Analgesia 
Must be requested separately. Contact Medical Staff Services for privilege form. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

98/193



 
 
 

 

 

Name:                          Page 6 

 

Orthopedic Privileges 

Rev: 11/2023 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF APPLICANT 

I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, current experience, and demonstrated 

performance I am qualified to perform and that I wish to exercise at Hospital, and I understand that: 

a. In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by Hospital and Medical Staff policies and rules 

applicable generally and any applicable to the particular situation. 

b. Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 

my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 

 

Applicant’s Printed Name:      

 

Applicant’s Signature:       Date:      

 

DEPARTMENT CHAIR REVIEW 

I have reviewed the requested clinical privileges and supporting documentation and make the following 

recommendations: 

☐ Recommend all privileges as requested 

 

☐ Recommend privileges with conditions/modifications (describe): 

 

 

 

☐ Do not recommend the following requested privileges (rationale for recommendation): 

 

 

 

☐ I assign ________________________________________ to complete the initial FPPE evaluations on this 

Practitioner. 

 

Department Chair’s Printed Name      

 

 

Department Chair’s Signature:       Date:      

 

 

FOR MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE USE ONLY 

Credentials Committee approval Date:    

Medical Executive Committee approval Date:    

Board of Trustees approval Date:    

 

Privileges Effective From: ____________________ To: ____________________ 

 

Date Form Approved by Specialty:  11/14/2023    

Date Form Approved by Department Chair: 11/14/2023      

Date Approved by Credentials Committee: 11/14/2023    

Date Approved by MEC:   11/29/2023    

Date Approved by Board of Trustees:       

99/193



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

November 28, 2023 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on November 28, 2023, 

at 2:30 PM with Dr. Barbara Sowada presiding. 

 

In Attendance:  Dr. Barbara Sowada, Trustee – Acting Chair 

Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

   Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. James Horan, Director of Facilities 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Maintenance Supervisor/ Project Manager 

Judge Nena James - Trustee 

 

Excused:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

   Mr. Craig Rood – Trustee 

 

    

Dr. Sowada called the meeting to order and welcomed Judge Nena James, our new Board trustee, 

as a guest. Introductions were made by attendees. 

 

Dr. Sowada asked for a motion to approve the agenda. Judge James made a motion to approve the 

agenda. Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed.  

 

Dr. Sowada asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the October 17, 2023 meeting. Mr. 

Horan made a motion to approve the minutes. Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed. Judge 

James and Dr. Sowada abstained. 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Horan explained the reasoning on the reporting of these monthly metrics. Mr. Johnston said 

this month is lower than last month, right where we need to be. He said they continue to work on 

the average days overdue and he is digging into those. 

 

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Oncology Suite renovation 

 

Mr. Johnston read an email from the architect that they are still waiting for some material to 

arrive, specifically the sliding glass doors. We want to have all materials and supplies onsite 

before the project starts to keep the timeline short. This project will be taking place in a patient 

care area and most of the work will be done after hours.  

  

Building Automation System 

 

Mr. Johnston said this project is now complete. We will need to bring back the contractor once the 

Laboratory project is complete to balance the entire hospital system.  

  

 

100/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 28, 2023, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

 

Lightning Arrest System 

 

Mr. Johnston reported this project is also now complete. We are waiting on the engineer and the 

City for the final inspections which are expected this week or next. Mr. Horan gave the history of 

the lightning strike incident that prompted the need for this project. 

 

Medical Imaging Core and X-ray 

 

Mr. Johnston said there was no update on this project from the architect. Ms. Love said the plan 

was to replace the x-ray equipment in the ER first, which is currently in progress. The Imaging 

department staff have been working with architect and the equipment vendor on plans. 

 

SLIB Laboratory Expansion project 

 

Ms. Love said the CMAR agreement has been signed by both Groathouse and the hospital. Mr. 

Johnston said pre-construction meetings will start in December with the expectation of having a 

GMP early next year. The timeline is still to break ground in the spring with the new construction 

so it will be enclosed by winter for internal work. Dr. Sowada asked how much additional square 

footage would be added. Mr. Johnston estimated between 1500 to 2000 square feet in additional 

space will be built. The plans do include a second floor to be completed which will be used for 

much needed office and storage space.  

 

U of U suite renovation 

 

Ms. Love said this project has been put on hold as the work is planned to be done in conjunction 

with some plumbing work on the Oncology project. 

 

Master Plan/Grant for Foundation & MOB entrance 

 

Ms. Richardson reported the Master Plan agreement is being reviewed by legal and hopes to have 

it ready for Board review and approval in January or February. There was discussion on the other 

two projects with approved grants. The Foundation space grant is for $496,000 for plumbing 

improvements and the MOB entrance is a $2.1 million project with $1,050,000 of SLIB grant 

funds and would require matching funds for the other $1,050,000.  

 

Ms. Richardson reported we met with County officials and Commissioner Jones regarding the 

accumulation of maintenance funds year over year to build up a depreciation fund to be used for 

large capital projects. She thanked Commissioner Jones for his assistance in getting this 

successfully agreed upon by all parties. There was also discussion of building up a depreciation 

reserve fund internally to be used for the prioritized projects. Mr. Horan thanked Ms. Richardson 

for moving forward with the Master Plan idea and being the driving force to look ahead and plan 

for the future of our hospital campus. Ms. Richardson thanked the Board and Commissioners for 

allowing us to maintain this building and grow instead of having to build a new hospital and put 

that burden on the taxpayers. She also thanked Mr. Horan and his team for their excellent work in 

maintaining our buildings and for being so knowledgeable about our facilities. 

 

 

101/193



 

 

Minutes of the November 28, 2023, Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

 

 

 

New Business 

 

No new business was presented. 

 

Other 

 

Judge James said she has been impressed by the proactiveness and goal setting she has seen in 

several meetings she has attended so far. 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, December 19, 2023; 2:30P – 3:30P 

 

Dr. Sowada adjourned the meeting at 3:06 pm. 
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

102/193



 

Board Compliance Committee Meeting 

   Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

November 27th, 2023 

 
  

Present via Zoom: Suzan Campbell, In House Counsel, Irene Richardson, CEO, Barbara Sowada, Trustee, 
*Nena James, Trustee, April Prado, Foundation & Compliance. 
 
Absent: Kandi Pendleton, Trustee-Chair 
*Substitution for Kandi Pendleton  

 

Minutes 
 

Call to Order 
The meeting was called to order at 9:05am by Barbara Sowada. 
Agenda 
The November agenda was approved as written, Irene made the motion and Nena seconded it.  
Meeting Minutes 
The meeting minutes from the September 24,2023 meeting were presented. It was decided that neither 
Trustee attended the last meeting and therefore could not approve the minutes. These minutes will be 
presented for approval at the January Board Compliance meeting.  
 

New Business 
a. Questions to discuss from Board and Compliance oversight video from OIG.  

 Are Board members engaged and active and so they raise questions? Suzan stated that 
she feels like this committee is really engaged. Barbara asked if this video and questions 
will go to the Hospital Board or just to this committee. Suzan answered that the video is 
available for Board members on the portal. 

 Do Board members demonstrate a commitment to compliance? Suzan stated yes, the 
Board understands the importance and that OIG is over compliance and the Board took 
the next step to have a compliance committee. They are very interested and committed. 
Barbara brought up that Nena will need the “Conflict of Interest” statement.  

 Are Board members adaptable? Suzan answered that she believes they are. She said 
that the Board realizes when things have changed and is quick to reorganize this and 
make any needed changes. Barbara agreed with Suzan and added that they are available 
and to please reach out and let them know if there is anything they can help with. 

b. Compliance committee charter review and proposed change. Suzan reported that this has now 
been approved and will be sent through PolicyStat. She noted that the only change in the 
document was that the committee will now be meeting quarterly. 
 

Old Business 
No old business to report. 
 

Summary Report  
a. Update on the Credentialing Audit. Suzan first informed Nena about April’s role in the auditing 

process and how audits are decided on. She explained that this is the third audit of the year and 
the first two were on hospital overtime and HIPAA and the registration process. April then spoke 
about the “Credentialing Outline” which was presented to the committee. April explained the 

 

103/193



 

purpose of the audit was to show compliance with MHSC’s Medical Staff By-laws. She further 
explained that she will be auditing 33% or 69 members of our medical staff. She stated that this 
will include all employed medical staff, not just on-site staff. This will also include TeleHealth, 
Nurse Practitioners (NP’s) and Physician Assistants (PA-C’s). She presented the items that will be 
audited and stated that she will be doing 5-10 of the audits with Janice Varley, Credentialing 
Clerk and Sarah Bailey, Provider Enrollment Clerk. The remaining audits will be done on her own 
using the hospital’s new program, MD-Staff. She asked if there were any questions, and none 
were given. Suzan added that this audit is set to be completed by December 31st, 2023, and that 
it will be nice to see how the new MD-Staff program works and if it will be easy to access the 
items needed.  

b. Top 25 RM audit ideas. Suzan gave an overview of the document and added that she also sent it 
separately to Irene. She explained that that Irene, April, and herself will use this along with data 
from the hospital to look for and decide on three audits for next year. Suzan then talked about 
some of the areas that were addressed in the document, and they are as follows; Drug diversion 
and 340B-Suzan stated that this is big with opioids and making sure we have safeguards and 
proper documentation in place for prescriptions. EMTALA- is a federal act that states emergency 
departments must provide an appropriate medical screening examination to anyone seeking 
medical attention regardless of citizenship, legal status, or ability to pay. The overturning of Roe 
vs Wade has changed this process and may need to be looked at. The “No Surprise Act”- this 
involves our billing department. The way in which insurance can be billed has recently changed. 
For example: If you are traveling away from home and you get sick and go to an Emergency 
Room, you would receive “surprise bills” for being out of network or for certain services that 
were provided. Now, patients have the right to know their estimated charges beforehand-we 
will check with Patient Financial Services to see if they need help with this. Robotic Process 
automation is new and emerging for us because we now have the da Vinci robot here. Barbara 
asked if Workplace Violence is an issue. Suzan stated that we have a policy in place, but it might 
be something we could look at. Barbara also asked about patient safety and opioids and how we 
articulate with the Quality Department and what they are doing. Suzan stated that she meets 
with Kara and Kari regularly and especially before we decide on audits to see what they are 
working on and to make sure they don’t overlap. Suzan added that Quality sends stuff over to 
her that might Compliance related and not Quality related. Suzan continued that this article is 
just ideas for what we might be looking at doing and is not set in stone. Barbara added that she 
liked it and Thanks for including it.  

c. HIPAA-The HIPAA report was presented and reviewed. Suzan briefly explained our process to 
Nena as well as explaining the three HIPAA privacies that we monitor, and the way possible 
violations are reported. She stated that P2Sentinel sends a weekly report to April, she then 
investigates and sends it to HP for further review. HR then sends it to the Director, who works 
with the employees, for corrective action. She continued that we see a lot of “Inquiry into 
personal medical record” which means that an employee entered their ow medical record 
without permission. Suzan said that we have a portal for all patients to view their medical 
record and employees should not be accessing their own records. She also stated that there are 
different levels of corrective actions for the violations. Irene asked what the consequence is of 
looking at your own medical record. Suzan stated that is a violation of HIPAA and the only 
reason they can access their own record is because they work here. Medical records should be 
accessed on a need-to-know basis and every time it is accessed a mark is made on the record. If 
there is ever a court case or if a patient requests, we must explain every one of those marks, so 
it is best to keep the record as clean as possible. Nena asked if this was a flagging system and 
Suzan stated yes. Nena also asked for clarification on “Household snooping”. April answered 

104/193



 

that this is when an employee looks at the record of a family member that resides with them 
like a spouse or child.  Suzan further explained that we also monitor co-worker snooping. This is 
where one co-worker looks at another co-worker’s record-the “I’ll look at yours if you look at 
mine” idea. Suzan also added that we have Synergi as our in-house reporting program and the 
T.J. in Information Services has a program for reporting HIPAA violations involving electronic 
data. Barbara questioned why HR is involved in HIPAA violations. April answered that she 
believed it had been decided by this committee that HR was to be the record keeping for these 
and that Directors were to be “handing down” the corrective actions to employees. Barbara 
then asked how HR tracks it, is it electronic or on an employee's record? Suzan stated that all 
corrective actions are monitored by HR and goes in the employee’s file. Barbabra asked if an 
audit of what is in HR files has ever been done and Suzan replied no, she didn’t think so. Barbara 
asked if only corrective actions go in a file or if there is also praise and stuff like that in a file. 
Suzan stated that she knows it is not only corrective actions that go in there, but she doesn’t 
know everything that is included in the file. Barabara asked about coaching and retention for 
employees. Suzan and April both stated that coaching and education are the first step. Suzan 
added that employees can review their files at any time. Barbara asked for any further questions 
and stated that the number of violations has significantly dropped. Suzan added that Amber in 
HR has been doing meetings with departments about HIPAA and that T.J., Amber and herself are 
looking at further training for all employees.  

d. OCR article. Suzan stated that this was just an FYI for everyone. Information released to the 
press during COVID and OCR decided that it should not have happened. This article was sent to 
Deb, Lena and Tiffany about releasing information to the press. Barbara asked if we currently 
have a policy in place for what information can be given out. Suzan replied that we do and 
added that Deb used to work for the Rocket Miner so when they receive a call with questions, 
she takes it, and then evaluates what we can release. Barbara referenced some issues that 
Vanderbilt had recently and asked who we can release information to. Suzan stated that 
employees are good about calling her first in these situations. She added that HIPAA does cover 
who we can release information to. The staff is aware that we don’t release without a subpoena 
or warrant. Barbara added that this is very reassuring. Nena stated that she had no questions.  

e. Exclusionary Report- Suzan briefly explained that this report is essentially used to look for fraud 
with our providers. It is run every month and we have never had a provider on the list.   

f. Article regarding OIG’s new Compliance Guidelines. Suzan reported that the last time OIG issued 
anything about this was YEARS ago. In November they released their new guidelines, starting 
with having a reporting system. Suzan continued that the guidelines did not add anything new 
for us and that we are on track with what they suggest. Barbara asked what Suzan would like 
the Board to know about this. Susan stated that on initial review, there is nothing we need to 
currently change or add and that we are compliant.  

 

Additional Discussion  
Barbara asked Nena, since it was her first meeting, if she had any questions. Nena replied that she took 
a lot of notes and had no questions right now. She added that she probably will as we go along. Suzan 
said that she can send as little or as much information as needed/wanted. Nena will meet with Suzan for 
any questions and to get up to speed. Suzan asked for clarification on the members of this committee. 
Barbara answered that it is Kandi and herself that will sit on this committee.  

 

 

 

 

105/193



 

Next Meeting    

The next meeting is scheduled for January 22nd, 2024 @ 9:00am. The committee will now start with the 
new quarterly schedule.  Meetings for 2024 will be April 22nd, July 22nd, and October 28th. Suzan will send 
a meeting invite for these.   
  
In closing Irene added that the best we can do is make sure we are compliant with our policies and 
procedures and mitigate our risk. Barabra added that she is thankful for everyone on this committee.  
 

Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 9:59am 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 

April Prado, Recording Secretary 

 

106/193



 

        Minutes  

Governance Committee 

November 30, 2023 
 

Present: Irene Richardson, Marty Kelsey, and Barbara Sowada 

Zoom meeting called to order at 2:00 pm  

Agenda was created during the meeting  

Minutes had been previously approved 

 

Old Business 

1. Agreed to withdraw from further Board discussion the proposed  Board policy: Approval Process for 

Expansion of or Addition To Hospital Services 

2. With Nena James replacing Taylor Jones, some committee assignments were revised. Below are revisions. 

a. Finance and Audit 

i. Marty – chair 

ii. Taylor Craig 

b. Building and Grounds 

i. Marty – chair 

ii. Craig 

c. Quality 

i. Taylor   Nena 

ii. Kandi- chair 

d. Compliance 

i. Kandi – chair 

ii. Barbara 

e. Human Resources 

i. Kandi – chair 

ii. Craig Nena 

f. Governance 

i. Barbara – chair 

ii. Marty 

g. Executive Oversight 

i. Barbara – chair 

ii. Taylor Nena 

h. Joint Conference 

i. Barbara – chair 

ii. Kandi 

i. Foundation Liaison 

i. Craig 

3. Board Self-Assessment Survey. Will be available for preview around December 4th. Committee will 

reconvene December 4th at 2:00 pm by Zoom to review results before they are presented to the Board. 

 

107/193



 

4. Education Offering. Staff will present educational information regarding AMGA data. This will be 

presented at Executive Session since information is associated with personnel.  

Meeting adjourned at 2:30 pm. 

Next meeting is tentatively scheduled for December 18 at 2:00 pm.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

108/193



 

 

  MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Human Resources Committee Special Meeting Minutes - Draft  
Monday – November 6, 2023 via Zoom 

 

Trustee Members Present by Zoom: Craig Rood 
Trustee Guest(s) present by Zoom: Barbara Sowada 
Voting Members Present by Zoom: Suzan Campbell, Amber Fisk, Irene Richardson 
Non-Voting Members & Guests Present by Zoom: Ann Marie Clevenger, Tami Love, Kari Quickenden, Amy Lucy, 
Shawn Bazzanella, Ruthann Wolfe, Eddie Boggs 

 
Amber called the meeting to order at 11:02 a.m. and welcomed everyone. 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the agenda as presented was made by Irene, second by Craig. Motion carried. 
 

Old Business 
 

None 
 
New Business 
 
Employee Policies – Weapons Policy for review: 
Amber explained this was a short, special HR Committee meeting to review/discuss the Weapons policy. Amber asked if 
anyone had any questions or notes to which no one had any. Amber recommends a ‘do pass’ recommendation to go to the 
full board in December. Irene motioned; Suzan seconded. All ayes, none opposed. Motion carried.  

 
Next Meeting 
 
The next regular HR Committee meeting is scheduled for Monday December 18, at 3:00 p.m. 
 
The meeting adjourned. 
 
 

 

 

109/193



110/193



111/193



112/193



113/193



114/193



115/193



116/193



117/193



118/193



119/193



120/193



121/193



122/193



123/193



124/193



125/193



126/193



127/193



128/193



129/193



130/193



131/193



132/193



133/193



134/193



135/193



136/193



137/193



138/193



139/193



140/193



141/193



142/193



143/193



144/193



145/193



146/193



147/193



148/193



149/193



150/193



151/193



152/193



153/193



154/193



155/193



156/193



157/193



158/193



159/193



160/193



161/193



162/193



163/193



164/193



165/193



166/193



167/193



168/193



169/193



170/193



171/193



172/193



173/193



174/193



175/193



176/193



177/193



178/193



179/193



180/193



181/193



182/193



183/193



184/193



185/193



186/193



187/193



188/193



189/193



190/193



191/193



192/193



193/193


	Agenda - December 6 2023 Mtg
	Mission and Vision
	Minutes for October 4 2023 Draft
	Minutes for November 1 2023 Draft
	Minutes for November 10 2023 Special Meeting
	Minutes for November 13 2023 Special Workshop
	Minutes for November 14 2023 Special Workshop
	Orientation Memo Residents in Training Policy for approval
	Residents in Training Policy-Draft-Changes
	FY23 Revised Audit
	Orientation Memo 2023_December_Patient Rights and Responsibilities Ann Clevenger
	Patient Rights and Responsibilities - Patient Rights and Responsibilities
	Patient Rights and Responsibilities-Changes
	Orientation memo for Weapons policy Suzan Campbell
	WEAPONS POLICY-Draft
	Weapons Storage Release and Indemnity Agreement Form 12.5.23.gjp
	Orientation Memo Orthopedic privileges (revised)
	Orthopedics w robot
	Building &amp; Grounds Committee
	Compliance Committee
	Governance Committee
	Human Resources Committee
	Capital Expenditure Request
	I.S. Report
	Bad Debt
	Finance &amp; Audit Committee Meeting Information
	U of U Telemedicine Contract

